
 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

C A L L  A N D  N O T I C E  

CALL AND NOTICE OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE OF 
THE ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS 

As Chair of the Administrative Committee of the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG), 
I am calling a special meeting of the ABAG Administrative Committee as follows: 

Special Joint Meeting with the MTC Planning Committee 

Friday, April 22, 2016, 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 

Location: 

Joseph P. Bort MetroCenter 
Lawrence D. Dahms Auditorium 
101 8th Street 
Oakland, California 

 

The ABAG Administrative Committee may act on any item on this agenda. 

Agenda and attachments available at abag.ca.gov 

This meeting is scheduled to be audiocast live on the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
website at mtc.ca.gov 

For information, contact Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, at (510) 464 7913. 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL / CONFIRM QUORUM 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIENCE 

3. MTC COMPENSATION ANNOUNCEMENT 

MTC Committee Secretary 

4. ABAG COMPENSATION ANNOUNCEMENT 

ABAG Clerk of the Board 

5. MTC PLANNING COMMITTEE CONSENT CALENDAR 

MTC Planning Committee Approval 

A. MTC Planning Committee Minutes of the March 25, 2016 Meeting 

6. APPROVAL OF ABAG ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE SUMMARY MINUTES OF 
MEETING ON MARCH 25, 2016 

ABAG Administrative Committee Action 

  

Call and Notice

http://abag.ca.gov/
http://www.mtc.ca.gov/


ABAG Administrative Committee 
April 22, 2016 
2 
 
7. ABAG/MTC MERGER STUDY—MANAGEMENT PARTNERS 

ABAG Administrative Committee Information/Action / MTC Planning Committee 
Information/Action 

8. PUBLIC COMMENT / OTHER BUSINESS 

9. ADJOURNMENT / NEXT MEETING 

The next joint meeting of the ABAG Administrative Committee and MTC Planning 
Committee on the ABAG/MTC Merger Study will be held on May 20, 2016, 9:00 a.m., 
Joseph P. Bort MetroCenter, 101 8th Street, Lawrence D. Dahms Auditorium, Oakland. 

 

Members of the public shall be provided an opportunity to directly address the ABAG 
Administrative Committee concerning any item described in this notice before consideration of 
that item. 

Agendas and materials will be posted and distributed for this meeting by ABAG staff in the 
normal course of business. 

 

Submitted: 

 

 

/s/ Julie Pierce 
Chair, Administrative Committee 

 

Date Submitted:  April 14, 2016 

Date Posted:  April 18, 2016 

 

Call and Notice



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

A G E N D A  

ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

Special Joint Meeting with the MTC Planning Committee 

Friday, April 22, 2016, 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 

Location: 

Joseph P. Bort MetroCenter 
Lawrence D. Dahms Auditorium 
101 8th Street 
Oakland, California 

 

The ABAG Administrative Committee may act on any item on this agenda. 

Agenda and attachments available at abag.ca.gov 

This meeting is scheduled to be audiocast live on the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
website at mtc.ca.gov 

For information, contact Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, at (510) 464 7913. 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL / CONFIRM QUORUM 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIENCE 

3. MTC COMPENSATION ANNOUNCEMENT 

MTC Committee Secretary 

4. ABAG COMPENSATION ANNOUNCEMENT 

ABAG Clerk of the Board 

5. MTC PLANNING COMMITTEE CONSENT CALENDAR 

MTC Planning Committee Approval 

A. MTC Planning Committee Minutes of the March 25, 2016 Meeting 

Attachment:  MTC Planning Committee Minutes of March 25, 2016 

6. APPROVAL OF ABAG ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE SUMMARY MINUTES OF 
MEETING ON MARCH 25, 2016 

ABAG Administrative Committee Action 

Attachment:  Summary Minutes of March 25, 2016 

Agenda

http://abag.ca.gov/
http://www.mtc.ca.gov/


ABAG Administrative Committee 
April 22, 2016 
2 
 
7. ABAG/MTC MERGER STUDY—MANAGEMENT PARTNERS 

ABAG Administrative Committee Information/Action / MTC Planning Committee 
Information/Action 

Gerald Newfarmer, President and CEO, Lynn Dantzker, Partner, and Dan Marks, Special 
Advisor, Management Partners 

Attachment:  Merger Study Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 

8. PUBLIC COMMENT / OTHER BUSINESS 

9. ADJOURNMENT / NEXT MEETING 

The next joint meeting of the ABAG Administrative Committee and MTC Planning 
Committee on the ABAG/MTC Merger Study will be held on May 20, 2016, 9:00 a.m., 
Joseph P. Bort MetroCenter, 101 8th Street, Lawrence D. Dahms Auditorium, Oakland. 

 

Submitted: 

 

 

/s/ Ezra Rapport, Secretary-Treasurer 

 

 

Date Submitted:  April 14, 2016 

Date Posted:  April 18, 2016 

 

Agenda



101 Eighth Street, 

Joseph P. Bort 

MetroCenter

Oakland, CA
Meeting Minutes - Draft

Joint MTC Planning Committee with the ABAG Administrative 

Committee - Merger Study
MTC Committee Members:

James P. Spering, Chair    Anne W. Halsted, Vice Chair

Alicia C. Aguirre, Scott Haggerty, Steve Kinsey

Sam Liccardo, Julie Pierce

Non-Voting Members: Tom Azumbrado, Dorene M. Giacopini

9:00 AM Lawrence D. Dahms AuditoriumFriday, March 25, 2016

1.  Roll Call / Confirm Quorum

Rollcall

Chairperson Spering, Vice Chair Halsted, Commissioner Aguirre, Commissioner 

Haggerty, Commissioner Kinsey and Commissioner Pierce

Present: 6 - 

Commissioner LiccardoAbsent: 1 - 

Non-Voting Member Present: Commissioner Giacopini 

Non-Voting Member Absent: Commissioner Azumbrado

Ex Officio Voting Members Present: Commission Chair Cortese and

Commission Vice Chair Mackenzie

Ad Hoc Non-Voting Members Present: Commissioner Luce and Commissioner Wiener 

ABAG Administrative Committee Members Present: Cortese, Eklund, Haggerty, Harrison, Luce, 

Peralez, Pierce, and Scharff.

2.  Pledge of Allegiance

3.  MTC Compensation Announcement - Committee Secretary

4.  ABAG Compensation Announcement - Clerk of the Board

Page 1 Printed on 3/29/2016

Item 5.A.



March 25, 2016Joint MTC Planning Committee with the ABAG 

Administrative Committee - Merger Study

5.  Consent Calendar

Upon the motion by Commissioner Kinsey and second by Commissioner Aguirre, 

the Consent Calendar was unanimously approved by the following vote:

Aye: Chairperson Spering, Vice Chair Halsted, Commissioner Aguirre, Commissioner 

Kinsey and Commissioner Pierce

5 - 

Absent: Commissioner Haggerty and Commissioner Liccardo2 - 

5a. 15-1341 MTC - Minutes of the February 26, 2016 Meeting

Action: MTC Planning Committee Approval

Commissioner Haggerty arrived after the approval of the Consent Calendar.

6.  ABAG Administrative Committee Approval of Summary Minutes

6a. 15-1342 ABAG - Minutes of the February 26, 2016 Meeting

Action: ABAG Administrative Committee Approval

MTC / ABAG Merger Study - Management Partners

7. 15-1431 MTC-ABAG Merger Study Update

Financial Forecasts, Stakeholder Engagement Overview, Merger Study 

Principles, Problem Definitions, Options and Evaluation Criteria.

Action: Information

The following individuals spoke on this item:

Christa Cassidy with The Nature Conservancy

Gabriel Haaland with SEIU 1021;

Lee Huo with SEIU 1021;

Matt Vander Sluis of Greenbelt Alliance;

Kearey Smith of MTC staff & CSR Representative;

Egon Terplan of SPUR;

Revan Tranter, ABAG Executive Director Emeritus;

Page 2 Printed on 3/29/2016

Item 5.A.

http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15534
http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15535
http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15622


March 25, 2016Joint MTC Planning Committee with the ABAG 

Administrative Committee - Merger Study

Ken Bukowski;

Autumn Bernstein;

James Muller of San Francisco Estuary Partnership;

Micah Weinberg with the Bay Area Council;

Ursula Vogler MTC staff & CSR Representative; and

Jane Kramer.

7a. 15-1432 Planning Program Areas

Action: Information

7b. 15-1433 MTC and ABAG Functional Organization Chart

Action: Information

7c. 15-1343 Financial Forecasts for MTC and ABAG

Action: Information

7d. 15-1345 Preliminary Stakeholder Engagement Comments

Action: Information

7e. 15-1434 Elected Official Survey Results

Action: Information

7f. 15-1344 Principles, Problem Definition, Range of Options, Evaluation Criteria

Action: Information

Page 3 Printed on 3/29/2016

Item 5.A.

http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15623
http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15624
http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15536
http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15538
http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15625
http://mtc.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=15537


March 25, 2016Joint MTC Planning Committee with the ABAG 

Administrative Committee - Merger Study

8.  Public Comment / Other Business

9.  Adjournment / Next Meeting

The next meeting of the Joint MTC Planning Committee with the ABAG Administrative 

Committee - Merger Study will be held on April 22, 2016 at 9:00 a.m. in the Lawrence 

D. Dahms Auditorium, First Floor, 101 Eighth Street, Oakland, CA.

Page 4 Printed on 3/29/2016

Item 5.A.



SUMMARY MINUTES (DRAFT) 
ABAG Administrative Committee Special Meeting 

Friday, March 25, 2016 
Joseph P. Bort MetroCenter 

101 8th Street, Oakland, California 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL / CONFIRM QUORUM 

ABAG President and Committee Chair Julie Pierce, Councilmember, City of Clayton, called 
the special meeting of the Administrative Committee of the Association of Bay Area 
Governments to order at about 9:01 a.m. 

The Committee met jointly with the Planning Committee of the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission. 

A quorum of the Committee was present at about 9:08 a.m. 

Members Present 

Councilmember Julie Pierce, City of Clayton 
Supervisor Dave Cortese, County of Santa Clara 
Mayor Pat Eklund, City of Novato 
Supervisor Scott Haggerty, County of Alameda 
Mayor Bill Harrison, City of Fremont 
Supervisor Mark Luce, County of Napa 
Councilmember Raul Peralez, City of San Jose 
Vice Mayor Greg Scharff, City of Palo Alto 

Members Absent 

Vice Mayor Pradeep Gupta, City of South San Francisco 
Supervisor Eric Mar, City and County of San Francisco 
Supervisor Dave Pine, County of San Mateo (Alternate) 
Supervisor David Rabbitt, County of Sonoma 

Staff Present 

Ezra Rapport, ABAG Executive Director 
Brad Paul, ABAG Deputy Executive Director 
Kenneth Moy, ABAG Legal Counsel 
Miriam Chion, ABAG Planning and Research Director 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. MTC COMPENSATION ANNOUNCEMENT 

4. ABAG COMPENSATION ANNOUNCEMENT 

Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, made the compensation announcement. 

5. MTC PLANNING COMMITTEE CONSENT CALENDAR 

A. MTC Planning Committee Minutes of the February 26, 2016 Meeting 

MTC Planning Committee approved its minutes of the February 26, 2016 meeting. 

[The Committee next took up Item 7.] 

Item 6



Summary Minutes (Draft) 
ABAG Administrative Committee Special Meeting 

Friday, March 25, 2016 
2 
 

6. APPROVAL OF ABAG ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE SUMMARY MINUTES OF 
MEETING ON FEBRUARY 25, 2016 

President Pierce recognized a motion by Pat Eklund, Mayor, City of Novato, which was 
seconded Raul Peralez, Councilmember, City of San Jose, to approve the Administrative 
Committee summary minutes of February 26, 2016. 

The ayes were:  Pierce, Cortese, Eklund, Harrison, Luce, Peralez, Scharff. 

The nays were:  None. 

The abstentions were:  None. 

The absences were:  Gupta, Haggerty, Mar, Pine (Alternate), Rabbitt. 

The motion passed unanimously. 

7. ABAG/MTC MERGER STUDY—MANAGEMENT PARTNERS 

Lynn Dantzker, Project Manager, and Dan Marks, Special Advisor, assisted by Brittany 
Gabel, Senior Management Advisor, Management Partners, reported on the ABAG/MTC 
merger study, including review of the meeting agenda and merger study update. 

A. Planning Program Areas 

Dantzker reported on planning program area overview. 

B. MTC and ABAG Functional Organization 

Dantzker reported on ABAG and MTC functional organization charts post-
implementation of MTC Resolution 4210. 

C. Financial Forecast 

Dantzker reported on ABAG and MTC financial forecasts overview, including MTC 
forecast conclusions and ABAG fiscal challenges and forecast conclusions under 2014 
Funding Framework and MTC Resolution 4210. 

Members discussed the San Francisco Estuary Partnership overhead rate and impact of 
planning staff shift. 

D. Preliminary Stakeholder Engagement Comments 

Dantzker reported on preliminary stakeholder engagement broad themes. 

E. Elected Official Survey Results 

Dantzker reported on elected officials survey results. 

Members discussed the survey response rate. 

F. Proposed Merger Study Principles, Problem Definitions, Range of Options, and 
Evaluation Criteria 

Dantzker reported on proposed principles, problem definitions, ten options for analysis, 
general analysis framework, and evaluation criteria. 

Members discussed the ten options for analysis; financial analyses for options; governing 
board representation; regional planning and local control; MTC outreach engagement; 
ABAG structural problems; MTC and ABAG responsibilities under SB 375. 

Item 6



Summary Minutes (Draft) 
ABAG Administrative Committee Special Meeting 

Friday, March 25, 2016 
3 
 

The following individuals gave public comment:  Christa Cassidy, The Nature Conservancy; 
Gabriel Haaland, SEIU 1021; Lee Huo, SEIU 1021; Matt Vander Sluis, Greenbelt Alliance; 
Kearey Smith, MTC staff and CSR Representative; Egon Terplan, SPUR; Revan Tranter, 
ABAG Executive Director Emeritus; Ken Bukowski; Autumn Bernstein; James Muller, San 
Francisco Estuary Partnership; Micah Weinberg, Bay Area Council; Ursula Vogler, MTC 
staff and CSR Representative; and Jane Kramer. 

Members discussed problem definition and proposed principles. 

Ms. Danzkter and Mr. Marks provided a wrap-up and reviewed next steps for the meeting on 
April 22. 

8. PUBLIC COMMENT / OTHER BUSINESS 

There was no public comment. 

[The Committee next took up Item 6.] 

9. ADJOURNMENT / NEXT MEETING 

The meeting adjourned at about 12:05 p.m. 

The next joint meeting of the ABAG Administrative Committee and MTC Planning 
Committee on the ABAG/MTC Merger Study will be held on April 22, 2016, 9:00 a.m., 
Joseph P. Bort MetroCenter, 101 8th Street, Lawrence D. Dahms Auditorium, Oakland. 

 

Submitted: 

 

 

/s/ Ezra Rapport, Secretary-Treasurer 

 

Date Submitted:  April 11, 2016 

Date Approved:   

 

For information, contact Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, at (510) 464 7913 or 
FredC@abag.ca.gov. 

 

Item 6

mailto:FredC@abag.ca.gov


Blank Page 



April 2016 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission and the 
Association of Bay Area Governments Merger Study 
Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 

Item 7



Item 7



1730 MADISON ROAD  •  CINCINNATI, OH 45206  •  513 861 5400  •  FAX 513 861 3480 MANAGEMENTPARTNERS.COM 
2107 NORTH FIRST STREET, SUITE 470  •  SAN JOSE, CALIFORNIA 95131  •  408 437 5400  •  FAX 408 453 6191 

3152 RED HILL AVENUE, SUITE 210  •  COSTA MESA, CALIFORNIA 92626  •  949 222 1082  •  FAX 408 453 6191 

April 18, 2016 
Mr. James Spering, Chair 
Planning Committee 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) 
101 Eighth Street  
Oakland, CA 94607 

Ms. Julie Pierce, Chair 
Administrative Committee 
Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) 
101 Eighth Street  
Oakland, CA 94607 

Dear Mr. Spering and Ms. Pierce: 

Management Partners is pleased to transmit this Options Analysis and Recommendation Report for 
the ABAG-MTC Merger Study. This report evaluates seven options and the implementation of MTC 
Resolution 4210 in relation to how well each addresses the three problems we identified: 

• Preparation of the region’s sustainable community strategy to reduce greenhouse gases is
statutorily split between two regional agencies.

• Two agencies responsible for regional land use and transportation planning and associated
services and programs are not formally linked by an integrated management, leadership, or
policy structure.

• ABAG’s ongoing ability to implement its mission is compromised by its dependence on
discretionary funding that will challenge its fiscal sustainability over the long run.

Based on our analysis and application of an established set of evaluation criteria, the report includes 
our recommendation regarding which alternative we believe best addresses the problems. Under 
our contractual agreement for the Merger Study, the next step is for the Joint Committee to select 
one option on April 22, and for us to prepare an implementation plan for that option. We hope our 
work to date has helped both agencies understand the choices before them and allows for an 
informed decision about those choices.  

Sincerely, 

Gerald E. Newfarmer 
President and CEO 

Item 7



Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Table of Contents  Management Partners 

 
 

i 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary .................................................................................................................................. 1 

The Problem ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

Conclusions about Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 and Alternative Options ....... 4 
Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 – Consolidation of Most Planning Functions in 
MTC  ....................................................................................................................................... 4 
Option 1 – No Structural Change .............................................................................................. 6 
Option 2 – Hire an Independent Planning Director to Manage all Planning Functions .......... 6 
Option 3 – Establish a New Joint Powers Authority (JPA) to Oversee all Planning  
Functions .................................................................................................................................... 7 
Option 4 – Create a New Regional Agency and Governance Model .......................................... 8 
Option 5 – Create a New Comprehensive Regional Agency and Governance Model .............. 10 
Option 6 – Execute a Contract between MTC and ABAG to Consolidate Planning  
Functions within MTC and Enter into an MOU to Create a New Regional Agency and 
Governance Model .................................................................................................................... 10 
Option 7 – Enter into a Contract between ABAG and MTC to Consolidate Staff Functions 
under One Executive Director and Enter into an MOU to Pursue New Governance Options 
(Functional Consolidation) ....................................................................................................... 11 

A Path Forward .............................................................................................................................. 13 

Setting the Context ................................................................................................................................. 16 

Plan Bay Area and SB 375 ............................................................................................................. 17 

Merger Study .................................................................................................................................. 18 

ABAG and MTC Financial Forecast ............................................................................................ 20 

Employee Compensation, Benefits and Representation ........................................................... 21 

Options Analysis ..................................................................................................................................... 22 

Merger Study Principles ................................................................................................................ 22 

List of Options ................................................................................................................................ 22 

Analysis Framework ...................................................................................................................... 23 

Option Profiles ................................................................................................................................ 25 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Table of Contents  Management Partners 

 
 

ii 

 
Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 – Consolidation of Most Planning Functions in 
MTC  ................................................................................................................................................. 26 

Description ................................................................................................................................ 26 
General Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 27 
A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability ..................................................................... 30 
B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making ............................................................................ 31 
C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability ............................................................ 32 
D. Implementation Viability ..................................................................................................... 32 

Option 1 – No Structural Change ................................................................................................ 34 
Description ................................................................................................................................ 34 
General Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 35 
A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability ..................................................................... 36 
B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making ............................................................................ 37 
C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability ............................................................ 37 
D. Implementation Viability ..................................................................................................... 37 

Option 2 – Hire an independent planning director to manage all planning functions ....... 39 
Description ................................................................................................................................ 39 
General Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 40 
A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability ..................................................................... 42 
B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making ............................................................................ 42 
C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability ............................................................ 43 
D. Implementation Viability ..................................................................................................... 43 

Option 3 – Establish a New Joint Powers Authority (JPA) to Oversee all Planning 
Functions ......................................................................................................................................... 45 

Description ................................................................................................................................ 45 
General Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 46 
A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability ..................................................................... 48 
B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making ............................................................................ 49 
C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability ............................................................ 49 
D. Implementation Viability ..................................................................................................... 50 

Option 4 – Create a New Regional Agency and Governance Model ..................................... 52 
Description ................................................................................................................................ 52 
General Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 53 
A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability ..................................................................... 56 
B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making ............................................................................ 57 
C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability ............................................................ 57 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Table of Contents  Management Partners 

 
 

iii 

D. Implementation Viability ..................................................................................................... 58 

Option 5 – Create a New Comprehensive Regional Agency and Governance Model ........ 60 
Description ................................................................................................................................ 60 
General Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 62 
A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability ..................................................................... 64 
B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making ............................................................................ 65 
C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability ............................................................ 65 
D. Implementation Viability ..................................................................................................... 65 

Option 6 – Execute a Contract between MTC and ABAG to Consolidate Planning 
Functions within MTC and Enter into an MOU to Create a New Regional Agency and 
Governance Model ......................................................................................................................... 67 

Description ................................................................................................................................ 67 
General Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 68 
A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability ..................................................................... 71 
B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making ............................................................................ 72 
C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability ............................................................ 73 
D. Implementation Viability ..................................................................................................... 74 

Option 7 – Enter into a Contract between ABAG and MTC to Consolidate Staff Functions 
under One Executive Director and Enter into an MOU to Pursue New Governance 
Options (Full Functional Consolidation) .................................................................................... 76 

Description ................................................................................................................................ 76 
General Impacts ........................................................................................................................ 77 
A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability ..................................................................... 79 
B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making ............................................................................ 81 
C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability ............................................................ 81 
D. Implementation Viability ..................................................................................................... 82 

Attachment A. Definition of Three Problems ................................................................................... 84 

Attachment B. Comparison of Planner Base Salaries ...................................................................... 86 

Appendix 1. Comparison of Employee Benefits ............................................................................... 87 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Table of Contents  Management Partners 

 
 

iv 

Tables 
Table 1. Options Analyzed ................................................................................................................ 23 

Table 2. Analysis Criteria for the Evaluation of Options ............................................................ 23 

Table 3. Estimated Financial Impact of MTC Resolution 4210 .................................................. 28 

Table 4. Estimated Additional Annual Consulting Costs to be Shared by Both Agencies 
under Option 1 ..................................................................................................................... 35 

Table 5. Estimated Financial Impact of Option 2 ......................................................................... 40 

Table 6. Estimated Financial Impact of Option 3 ......................................................................... 47 

Table 7. Estimated Financial Impact of Option 4 ......................................................................... 54 

Table 8. Estimated Near-Term Financial Impact of Option 6 ..................................................... 69 

Table 9. Estimated Long Term Financial Impact of Option 6 .................................................... 70 

Table 10. Estimated Financial Impact of Option 7 ......................................................................... 78 

Table 11. Top-Step Base Salaries for ABAG and MTC Planners................................................. 86 

 

Figures 
Figure 1. Graphic Depiction of MTC Resolution 4210 ................................................................ 26 

Figure 2. Criteria Assessment Overview for MTC Resolution 4210 ......................................... 33 

Figure 3. Graphic Depiction of Option 1 ....................................................................................... 34 

Figure 4. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 1 ................................................................ 38 

Figure 5. Graphic Depiction of Option 2 ....................................................................................... 39 

Figure 6. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 2 ................................................................ 44 

Figure 7. Graphic Depiction of Option 3 ....................................................................................... 45 

Figure 8. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 3 ................................................................ 51 

Figure 9. Graphic Depiction of Option 4 ....................................................................................... 53 

Figure 10. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 4 ................................................................ 59 

Figure 11. Graphic Depiction of Option 5 ....................................................................................... 61 

Figure 12. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 5 ................................................................ 66 

Figure 13. Graphic Depiction of Option 6 ....................................................................................... 68 

Figure 14. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 6 ................................................................ 75 

Figure 15. Graphic Depiction of Option 7 ....................................................................................... 77 

Figure 16. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 7 ................................................................ 83 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

1 

 

Executive Summary 
The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) was formed in 1961 
by the region’s local jurisdictions, recognizing even then that the Bay 
Area had common issues that crossed jurisdictional boundaries that 
called for more comprehensive regional thinking. Unlike other major 
metropolitan areas in the country, when the federal government required 
that metropolitan areas create regional transportation planning agencies 
to better plan for and coordinate the distribution of federal transportation 
funds, the state legislature created a separate agency – the Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission (MTC) – to be the Bay Area’s Metropolitan 
Planning Organization (MPO). Elsewhere in California, the local Council 
of Governments (similar to ABAG) was designated the MPO, creating a 
single, unified regional planning agency for those regions. 

ABAG and MTC subsequently worked together over the decades, one 
largely focused on land use and related issues, the other focused on 
transportation. Because transportation and land use are inextricably 
linked, the agencies have occasionally worked voluntarily together on 
various comprehensive regional plans and strategies for the region’s 
growth, and MTC has depended on ABAG for the regional land use 
forecasts that are the basis of transportation models. Periodically over the 
years, there have been efforts to combine the agencies into a single 
unified agency, but those efforts did not succeed.  

With the adoption of SB 375 in 2008, the “voluntary association” between 
ABAG and MTC became a forced one. SB 375 required the agencies to 
produce a joint sustainable communities strategy (SCS) that would 
demonstrate how the region would reduce its greenhouse gases by 
encouraging a development pattern that reduced dependence on travel 
by car, and support that development pattern through transportation 
plans and investments. But as sometimes happens with forced 
relationships, by most accounts, it did not go smoothly. While the two 
agencies managed to work well enough together to produce Plan Bay 
Area (adopted in 2013), there were many bumps in the road on the way.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

2 

 

In 2015, as the agencies began work on the required update to Plan Bay 
Area, MTC felt there was a better way. Accordingly, in October 2015 
MTC adopted Resolution 4210 (4210), which would create an integrated 
regional planning department by functionally consolidating MTC and 
most, but not all, ABAG planning staff into a single unit within MTC. As 
outlined in Resolution 4210, the respective SB 375 statutory 
responsibilities by ABAG and MTC for the development of the SCS, also 
known as Plan Bay Area (PBA) in the Bay Area, would remain the same 
after the functional consolidation of planning staff. The resolution 
reallocates MTC’s funding to ABAG for this purpose back to MTC and 
provides transitional financial assistance to ABAG for the next five years 
to mitigate the impact. 

This resolution was believed by MTC to be the best near-term approach 
to carry out the land use and transportation planning responsibilities set 
forth in SB 375, streamline the preparation process, and eliminate 
duplicative efforts between MTC and ABAG planning staff. Resolution 
4210 also includes a provision to undertake a merger study to explore 
alternatives to the functional consolidation of planning staff and provides 
that, should the two agencies agree to an alternative, 4210 would not be 
implemented. The ABAG Administrative Committee adopted a 
resolution expressing support of MTC’s resolution.  

A joint committee (Joint Committee) composed of the ABAG 
Administrative Committee and the MTC Planning Committee was 
assigned responsibility for managing the merger study. In January 2016, 
MTC and ABAG hired Management Partners to conduct the merger 
study to examine the policy, management, financial, and legal 
implications associated with further integration, up to and including 
institutional merger between MTC and ABAG. The engagement also 
included the development of a merger implementation plan for any 
option selected by the Joint Committee. In the event that ABAG and MTC 
approve an alternative merger implementation plan prior to July 1, 2016, 
Resolution 4210 will not be implemented.  

Since January, Management Partners has completed a range of activities 
including extensive interviews, many stakeholder meetings, research on 
alternative models and significant background research leading to this 
options analysis. This report provides the results of the options analysis 
as well as a recommendation for a path forward. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

3 

 

The Problem 
Passed in 2008, SB 375 requires each of California’s 18 Metropolitan 
Planning Organizations (MPOs) to include a sustainable communities 
strategy (SCS) in the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), both of which 
are required to be approved and adopted by MTC. The SCS sets forth a 
vision for regional growth that takes into account the region’s 
transportation, housing, environmental, and economic needs. The SCS is 
the blueprint by which each region intends to meet its greenhouse gas 
emissions reductions target. Plan Bay Area (PBA) is the region’s first SCS. 
It was adopted by the ABAG Executive Board and MTC in July 2013. An 
updated Plan Bay Area must be completed by 2017.  

Management Partners met with the members of the Joint Committee in 
January 2016 and held a facilitated discussion with the Joint Committee 
on January 22, 2016. Additionally, a six year financial forecast of both 
agencies was conducted which concluded that ABAG needs to address a 
financial structural shortfall in the near term and develop a financial 
strategy that can sustain the agency if it is to continue its mission within 
its existing structure and framework.  

As a result of those interviews and that discussion, and after an extensive 
stakeholder outreach process, on March 25, 2016, Management Partners 
set forth the three problems we believe the merger study should address:  

1. Preparation of the region’s sustainable community strategy to reduce 
greenhouse gases is statutorily split between two regional agencies.  

2. Two agencies responsible for regional land use and transportation 
planning and associated services and programs are not formally linked 
by an integrated management, leadership, or policy structure. 

3. ABAG’s ongoing ability to implement its mission is compromised by a 
continued reliance on discretionary revenue that will challenge its fiscal 
sustainability over the long term.  

Included within our problem statements was a list of consequences that 
we believe flowed from each of these problems. A complete description 
of the problems and their consequences may be found in Attachment A. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

4 

 

Conclusions about Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 and 
Alternative Options 

At the March 25 Joint Committee meeting, Management Partners 
presented nine options, which have since been modified and reduced to 
seven based on comments at the meeting and a review of commonalities 
of some options. Our conclusions and recommendation are based on a 
consideration of ABAG’s emerging financial issues, a close review of the 
options that in our view best respond to the problems identified, our 
analysis of general impacts, and the application of criteria we developed 
to evaluate identified options. They are also based on our own experience 
working on government reorganizations and mergers in California and 
across the country.  

A full analysis of each option including implications for legal, 
management, financial, employee and policy impacts may be found in the 
Options Analysis section of this report, which provides significantly more 
information. A summary of conclusions for the Implementation of MTC 
Resolution 4210 and each option are presented below, followed by our 
recommendation to the Joint Committee.  

Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 – Consolidation of 
Most Planning Functions in MTC 

Implementation of Resolution 4210 (4210) would address the first 
problem identified as this study began: having a single agency staff 
accountable for the preparation of Plan Bay Area 2017 (PBA 2017) and 
future PBAs. Both ABAG and MTC face a formidable task as they try to 
work together to prepare the SCS and PBA. No other metropolitan area of 
the State operates with the bifurcation of duties seen in the Bay Area. 
There is a reason for this. Under current law it is difficult and 
cumbersome to do what needs to be done using two separate agencies 
with separate cultures, staff and orientations and distinct, but important 
policy interests. As noted by the MTC executive director in his September 
18, 2015 memo to the Commission regarding PBA 2013: “we simply spent 
too much time arguing over matters ranging from high-level policy to 
low-level minutia because there was no ability to break ties other than by 
one agency bowing to the other’s point of view.” Elected officials are 
placed in the difficult role of “breaking ties” when disputes arise and 
project management is made exponentially more difficult. 
Implementation of Resolution 4210 would begin to address this problem 
and begin the process of establishing a larger, more comprehensive 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

5 

 

planning department that could potentially address other issues facing 
the region. However, it would leave intact indefinitely the existing 
bifurcation in policy responsibility between the two agencies, and create a 
new bifurcation with staff in one agency trying to serve the needs and 
interests of a separate agency. While it is feasible for this arrangement to 
work, it would need to be accompanied by a clear work program that 
ensures that ABAG’s statutory and policy responsibilities, interests and 
needs are addressed.  

ABAG planners would be incorporated into a more financially stable 
organization with a different set of benefits and employee representation 
status.  

Implementation of Resolution 4210 would change ABAG’s historic role as 
the regional land use planning agency in the region and compound the 
impact and seriousness of a financially struggling agency. Most 
stakeholders in the region understand ABAG to be the organization that 
addresses the region’s land use planning. It is perceived by most 
stakeholders as having a staff sensitive to local government interests, and 
its governing body as capable of representing the diversity of local 
government concerns. While ABAG would retain its policy role and 
statutory responsibilities following 4210, placing staff under the MTC 
administrative structure could lead to the perception that it has less 
influence. 

Further, 4210 leaves three planning programs at ABAG: 

1. The Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) process, 
2. Resilience programs, and 
3. The Bay Trail program. 

The RHNA process is inextricably linked to a number of planning 
functions and cannot effectively be separated from the SCS process. 
Further, both ABAG and MTC support resilience programs that should 
be consolidated for efficiency, but more importantly, for effectiveness 
purposes. And the Bay Trail program is funded by MTC and is, in part, 
transportation related.  

Although ABAG’s Administrative Committee adopted a resolution 
expressing support for 4210, our meetings with local government officials 
indicate that most local governments remain very concerned about the 
consequences of implementing the resolution. MTC continues to be 
perceived as the regional transportation agency, which of course it is. To 
become the comprehensive regional planning agency, it will need to 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

6 

 

modify its approach to planning to be more inclusive and responsive to 
local governments, and significantly broaden its mission. While these 
changes would be challenging for any organization, this level of change is 
certainly possible and will perhaps be furthered by the incorporation of 
ABAG staff that have performed these functions in the past.  

Option 1 – No Structural Change 

Option 1 would not resolve any of the problems identified for this study. 
Although increased collaboration and a conflict resolution process could 
improve the PBA 2017 process, it would not resolve the fundamental 
issues that flow from having two agencies with different missions, staffs 
and governing boards, which effectively have overlapping 
responsibilities for development of the SCS. It would not address the 
transparency and accountability issues of PBA 2013. It would not address 
the underlying fragility of ABAG’s funding structure which is overly 
reliant on grants and an annual allocation of money from MTC. From 
MTC’s perspective, this option would leave it with an indefinite financial 
responsibility with little control over costs or performance. While ABAG 
would likely continue to survive under this option, the lack of sufficient, 
secure funding means it cannot fully take on the critical role that councils 
of governments (COGs) play elsewhere in the country: helping the region 
to address the major issues that it faces.  

Option 2 – Hire an Independent Planning Director to Manage 
all Planning Functions 

Option 2 has the potential to address the desire for a more accountable 
and streamlined PBA process while leaving staff in their respective 
agencies. But it would achieve this goal by creating a highly unusual and 
fragile organizational and policy structure with substantial potential for 
dysfunction.  

At the staff level, it would be very challenging for an independent 
planning director to gain the support and loyalty of staff who are coming 
from two different agencies. It would be equally challenging for that 
position to build an effective team with combined staff, especially if the 
project is of limited duration and agency staff will be expected to re-
integrate into their respective agencies at the end of the PBA process. If 
the new “planning group” were given a wider and longer-term planning 
mandate, then the issue of how to integrate that planning work into the 
overall work of the two agencies would arise. The goal of having a 
unified vision and implementation strategy to address the region’s issues 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

7 

 

would be very difficult to achieve under this unusual policy and 
organizational structure.  

By leaving in place the current financing structure, this option would not 
address ABAG’s financial condition in the long term, and would leave 
ABAG subject to MTC financing decisions in the future. From the MTC 
perspective, this option would leave it with an indefinite financial 
responsibility with little control over costs or performance. From the 
perspective of the new planning director, having both agencies agree to 
and fund a work program for the planning group is likely to be an annual 
challenge. 

It would also perpetuate a regional planning process unlike anything 
seen in a major metropolitan area of the state. 

Option 3 – Establish a New Joint Powers Authority (JPA) to 
Oversee all Planning Functions 

This option has the potential to address the desire for a more accountable 
and streamlined PBA process, but at a cost. And, it will result in yet 
another government agency. Creating the new JPA will involve a 
significant effort in its own right, and is likely to trigger similar 
governance issues that are involved in creating a new comprehensive 
regional agency.  

The first challenge is determining the common powers between the two 
agencies that could be delegated to the JPA. Determining the relationship 
between MTC and the new JPA in regard to the RTP is likely to be 
especially challenging because of the importance of the RTP to much of 
MTC’s programmatic and project work. Whether this JPA may be able to 
undertake work on the larger issues facing the region would depend on 
the willingness of the parent agencies to authorize and fund such work or 
to allow the JPA to seek its own funds. But even if it were to undertake 
that work, those plans will need to be integrated into the programs of 
MTC and/or ABAG. There will continue to be a divided policy 
development and implementation process. Rather than that process being 
divided between two agencies, it would be between three. 

As with the previous option, leaving in place the current financing 
structure would not address ABAG’s already fragile finances, and would 
continue to leave ABAG subject to MTC financing decisions in the future. 
From the MTC perspective, this option would leave it with an indefinite 
financial responsibility with little control over costs or performance. From 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

8 

 

the perspective of the JPA, having both agencies agree to and fund a work 
program for the JPA is likely to be an annual challenge. 

Again this option would perpetuate a unique and separate planning 
approach, unlike any other in the state. 

Option 4 – Create a New Regional Agency and Governance 
Model 

Once a new agency is established, this option would address all three 
problems identified for this merger study: a more streamlined and 
accountable SCS process, a more unified and comprehensive approach to 
regional planning, and more secure and stable funding for regional 
planning. By creating a new agency rather than having one agency absorb 
another agency, it would allow an opportunity for all parties to agree on 
its mission and an equitable and representative governing structure (or 
structures).  

A new agency would respond to the fundamental interests of the vast 
majority of stakeholders who are in agreement that the region would be 
better served by a more comprehensive approach to regional planning. A 
new agency also provides an opportunity for a more integrated, 
consistent, and comprehensive approach to all regional programs and 
services. With more cost-effective agency administration, a new agency 
would have additional resources to broaden its mission, become a partner 
with local governments, and address other issues of regional concern.  

Until a new agency is established, ABAG would be required to address its 
financial instability. If an appropriate transition agreement could be 
reached through a contract with MTC, this option could also assist ABAG 
in addressing its financial issues through a more cost-effective 
administrative structure, a review of the cost effectiveness of some 
programs and services, and the incorporation of ABAG staff into a more 
financially robust, unified organization. Although Management Partners 
estimates significant administrative cost savings over time from 
implementation of this option, the impact on the new agency’s finances 
from potentially absorbing ABAG liabilities will need to be fully assessed 
before it is implemented. 

The biggest obstacle to moving forward is most likely the perceived need 
to solve the governance structure at the outset, and fear of the outcome. 
How will the interests of smaller local governments be balanced against 
the larger ones? The smaller jurisdictions want their interests and unique 
circumstances to be respected and their concerns recognized in any 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

9 

 

regional agency. They believe this is achieved in the current ABAG 
governance structure, although ABAG’s financial situation and SB 375 
have mitigated its effectiveness.  

The interests of the more populous cities and counties are that programs 
and funding serve those areas with the majority of the population of the 
region. These interests must also be recognized and respected in any 
governance structure. The large cities tend to believe that the MTC 
governance structure is more reflective of their interests, at least with 
respect to transportation planning and programming.  

Local governments remain concerned that the effort to address regional 
issues places pressure on them to be responsive to regional concerns and 
priorities and erodes local control. The concern with governance also 
reflects the relatively large sums of money available for transportation 
projects in the Bay Area and the strong interest in their distribution 
around the region.  

Balancing small and large jurisdiction interests of maintaining local 
control and of equitable distribution of transportation dollars are not 
unique to the Bay Area or to California. These tensions seem to be almost 
universal in regional agencies across the country. Elsewhere, these issues 
have been addressed through a variety of mechanisms, including special 
voting requirements for board decisions that help work towards 
consensus. While we have not surveyed the attitudes of local officials in 
the agencies profiled as part of this project regarding their respective 
regional agencies, our interviews with the executive directors indicated 
that the various decision-making systems in those agencies have worked 
relatively well to drive consensus.  

Our survey of other regions also found many options for creating a single 
agency. In Chicago and in Washington DC, the MPO remains a separate 
entity with its own governing board, but with a single staff organization. 
The MPO Board acts with policy guidance from the larger umbrella 
organization, and in one organization, the MPO Board is considered a 
committee of the umbrella agency.  

Management Partners believes the governance issue can be resolved with 
additional research about the effectiveness of different models, good will, 
and compromise. However, Option 4 would not address the presenting 
issue for this study: the desire for a more streamlined, transparent and 
accountable PBA 2017 process. By the time a new agency would be 
created, PBA 2017 would be close to completion or completed.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

10 

 

Option 5 – Create a New Comprehensive Regional Agency and 
Governance Model 

Option 5 would achieve many of the same objectives as Option 4, and 
then some. It would allow for a much more comprehensive and unified 
approach to regional planning and to environmental protection. 
However, the already significant challenges involved in considering 
unification of ABAG and MTC would be exponentially increased by 
seeking to incorporate additional agencies.  

If one was starting with the proverbial “clean sheet of paper” such an 
approach might be the best. Our concern with this approach is that 
perfection could become the enemy of better, and the Bay Area needs a 
better approach than it now has. 

Option 6 – Execute a Contract between MTC and ABAG to 
Consolidate Planning Functions within MTC and Enter into an 
MOU to Create a New Regional Agency and Governance 
Model  

Option 6 combines an initial phase of consolidating all planning staff 
followed by the creation of a new regional agency and governance 
structure. Both components (a contract and MOU) are intended to 
proceed simultaneously. As noted in Option 4, creation of a new regional 
agency would address two of the three problems identified by this study, 
and Option 6 would provide a near-term, partial solution to the third 
problem: a more streamlined and effective PBA 2017 process.  

Option 6 would also address the stakeholder desire for a single agency 
responsible for planning the region’s future. A new agency also provides 
an opportunity for a more integrated, consistent and comprehensive 
approach to all regional programs and services. With more cost-effective 
administration, the new agency would have additional resources to 
broaden its mission, become a partner with local governments, and 
address other issues of regional concern.  

Until a new agency is established, ABAG would be required to address its 
financial instability. If an appropriate transition agreement could be 
reached through a contract with MTC, this option could also assist ABAG 
in addressing its financial issues through a more cost-effective 
administrative structure, a review of the cost effectiveness of some 
programs and services, and incorporation of ABAG staff into a more 
financially robust, unified organization. Although Management Partners 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

11 

 

estimates significant administrative cost savings over time from 
implementation of this option, the impact on the new agency’s finances 
from potentially absorbing ABAG liabilities will need to be fully assessed 
before this option is implemented. 

This option would also partially address having a more streamlined, 
accountable, and transparent PBA 2017 process by having a unified staff 
under a single director and executive director.  

In addition to increasing staff accountability and reducing duplication of 
staff effort for PBA 2017, combining all planners into a single department 
should allow improvements to the policy process that prompt an increase 
in transparency and efficiency for decision makers. However, until a new 
agency and a new governance structure are created, policy decision-
making will remain bifurcated and transparency may not improve 
significantly. Future PBAs would presumably fully achieve the goal of a 
more streamlined and transparent process under a unified agency.  

With this option, Management Partners proposes transferring all ABAG 
planning staff to MTC, as there would be no basis for leaving the three 
programs at ABAG as proposed by 4210. By combining all planning, this 
option would allow the new planning department greater flexibility to 
undertake new initiatives in the near term while the new agency is being 
created.  

As noted in the discussion about Option 4, the fundamental issue with 
creating a new agency revolves around the question of governance. It 
remains unclear whether there is the necessary consensus and trust 
among the region’s local elected officials to move forward with creating a 
new regional agency and governance model. Entering into a 
memorandum of understanding (MOU) to do so would represent a 
formal agreement between the agencies to create a regional agency; 
however, depending on the rights and obligations set forth, it may or may 
not be legally binding. 

Option 7 – Enter into a Contract between ABAG and MTC to 
Consolidate Staff Functions under One Executive Director and 
Enter into an MOU to Pursue New Governance Options 
(Functional Consolidation)  

Both components of this option are intended to proceed simultaneously. 
This option would address two of the three identified problems and 
partially address the third. It would address the interest in having a more 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

12 

 

accountable, streamlined and effective PBA 2017 process by combining all 
staff into one organization. Assuming appropriate agreements can be 
reached, this option could assist ABAG in addressing its financial 
challenges by allowing for a more cost-effective administrative structure, 
a realignment of programs and services, and the incorporation of all 
ABAG staff, programs and functions into a more financially stable and 
robust organization, with a different set of benefits and employee 
representation status. (The impact on current retiree benefits would need 
to be assessed.) Although Management Partners estimates significant 
administrative cost savings over time from implementing this option, the 
impact on MTC finances of absorbing ABAG staff and possible liabilities 
will need to be fully assessed before it is implemented.  

ABAG would retain its role as a policy-making body, and would continue 
to provide oversight of its statutory responsibilities, as well as the 
services and programs under its purview. It would maintain its 
autonomy through a contract with MTC that sets forth roles and 
responsibilities, a work program and a budget to accomplish it. ABAG 
would have the authority to contract with consultants who can 
independently review work arising from staff to ensure it meets its 
interests and the intent of the contract. While the executive director 
would officially report to one oversight body (in this instance, the MTC 
Commission), Management Partners has seen many agencies where 
executive directors (or other chief executive officers) are responsible for 
meeting and balancing the interests of many competing stakeholder 
groups. In Washington DC and Chicago, the executive directors of the 
regional agencies have essentially two different governing boards whose 
interests they must address, and they have not indicated any significant 
issues in doing so. In other major regional agencies in the state, e.g., 
SACOG and SANDAG, the executive director must balance the interests 
of both the MPO and the COG, and does. 

However, because there is no binding commitment to create a new 
regional agency or successor governance structure, this option would not 
address the issues associated with having two agencies with their own 
governing bodies responsible for the region’s land use and transportation 
planning. This option proposes that the regional governance issue 
specifically be reconsidered at a designated date in the future. 
Nonetheless, adoption of this option could be perceived as a bridge 
forward toward that objective.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

13 

 

A Path Forward 
Option 6 provides the greatest opportunity for addressing the three 
problems identified for this study, consistent with the principles set forth 
and presented to the Joint Committee. As said many times by different 
stakeholders, there is a need for the Bay Area to consider and address 
complex, major issues over the next 5, 10 and 40 years. Those issues 
require integrated, comprehensive thinking about land use, 
transportation, social justice, environmental quality, and resource 
limitations. The seeds to create this type of comprehensive approach exist 
within MTC and ABAG, but each organization also faces real and 
perceptional challenges in meeting this need, and neither can do it alone. 
In any event, the existing two-agency (and some would say, four- or five- 
agency) Bay Area planning structure with its limited agency purviews 
cannot effectively integrate and efficiently address those issues in a 
holistic and comprehensive manner.  

Although MTC has been moving to broaden its mission as a result of SB 
375 and other issues, it is seen by most stakeholders in the Bay Area as 
too focused on transportation funding, projects, and program 
implementation. That has appropriately been its mission since its 
inception, and changing that mission to address a broader range of 
regional planning issues will be challenging, but not impossible. 
Broadening its mission to own and provide a wider range of regional 
planning services will be hampered by the perception by some 
stakeholders that it is not sufficiently sensitive to local governments and 
its governing body is not representative of local government interests in 
the region.  

At the same time, ABAG’s influence and voice as the region’s land use 
planning agency has been impacted in part due to SB 375, but also (and as 
important) because it lacks the financial foundation on which to build a 
more robust planning program that can address the issues facing the Bay 
Area. Because ABAG is so dependent on grants for its survival, it is 
forced to be reactive to grant-makers’ priorities, rather than establish a 
coherent regional planning program that addresses the issues most 
important to it and its member agencies. Many stakeholders also see 
ABAG as hampered by its outdated and inefficient governance structure. 
Some members mistrust regional initiatives, which are perceived to be 
paralyzed by a focus on preserving local prerogatives (not land use 
authority).  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

14 

 

Neither agency currently has the necessary support or resources to be an 
effective comprehensive regional planning agency. A new agency would, 
at the very least, be considerably more cost-effective and have a stable 
financial foundation. Gaining the necessary political support to create the 
agency will depend on defining an equitable governance structure that 
has the support of stakeholders.  

As described in Option 4, the governance issues of concern here are the 
same across the country. Despite differences between regions, there 
seems to be some common strategies applied to address the regional 
governance concerns of small and large governments and those strategies 
seem to be effective. We want to emphasize that in at least two regions, 
the MPOs retained a different governance structure, but both were under 
the umbrella of a larger organization.  

We believe there is considerable value to be added to this region by 
creating a new comprehensive and unified regional agency. As a result, 
we recommend Option 6 which contains a commitment to create a new 
regional agency and governance structure as best able to achieve that 
goal, while achieving some near-term improvements to the PBA 2017 
process and future PBAs. 

Recommendation 1. Direct preparation of an 
implementation action plan and begin implementing 
Option 6.  

Based on the Joint Committee discussion to date, however, we also 
recognize that the political consensus and trust needed to move forward 
with creating a new regional agency and governance structure may not 
be there yet. Meanwhile, there is a need to address ABAG’s financial 
fragility, to create a more streamlined and effective PBA 2017 process, 
and to establish a stronger, more integrated staff platform for addressing 
the complex issues facing the region. If adopting Option 6 is a “bridge too 
far” at this time, Option 7 may be a path forward.  

Option 7 should establish a clear contractual commitment to provide staff 
support for ABAG functions, roles and responsibilities in the region in a 
manner that ensures ABAG’s continued policy autonomy and 
independence. We believe this option would likely gain more support 
from local governments if it includes a strong commitment to consider 
the creation of a unified regional agency under a new governance 
structure at a specific point in the near term.  

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Executive Summary  Management Partners 
 

15 

 

 

Recommendation 2. Direct preparation of an 
implementation action plan and begin implementing 
Option 7 (if Option 6 is rejected). 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Setting the Context  Management Partners 
 

16 

 

Setting the Context 
Compared to other metropolitan regions in the state of California, the San 
Francisco Bay Area is unique in how it carries out regional land use and 
transportation planning. The Bay Area has two major regional planning 
agencies: the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) and the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC). The San Francisco Bay 
Area is the only major metropolitan area in the state that does not 
integrate land use and transportation planning within one institution. The 
reasons for this are primarily historical. 

MTC was created by the California Legislature in 1970. It is the federally 
designated Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) and the state-
designated Regional Transportation Planning Agency (RTPA) for the 
region. As the transportation planning, financing and coordinating 
agency for nine Bay Area counties, MTC collaborates with other public 
agencies to plan and finance the region’s streets, highways, and transit 
network. It is responsible for preparing a regional transportation plan 
(RTP) every four years which, under SB 375, must include and support 
the sustainable communities strategy (SCS). 

MTC annually programs and allocates roughly $1.5 billion in 
transportation revenues and is responsible for an over $8 billion debt 
portfolio. MTC also operates a suite of services to help travelers get 
around, including the 511 traveler information system, FasTrak® 
electronic toll collection, Clipper® transit fare card and the Freeway 
Service Patrol's fleet of roving tow trucks.  

ABAG was formed by a Joint Powers Authority in 1961 and is a voluntary 
association of the Bay Area’s 101 cities and nine counties. It serves as the 
region’s council of governments (COG). As a comprehensive regional 
planning agency, ABAG works with local governments and stakeholders 
to develop forecasts of the region’s housing; jobs and population growth; 
identify regional housing needs; address resilience and climate change 
issues; carry out regional social, economic and land use research; and 
prepare elements of the SCS. ABAG also provides special services to local 
governments, such as affordable housing and infrastructure financing, 
risk management and insurance, electricity and natural gas aggregation, 
energy efficiency programs, and emergency preparedness. These services 
are sometimes referred to as enterprise activities, because while they may 
be related or have some synergistic aspects, they are not directly related 
to core regional planning functions. They do help to spread overhead 
costs and are a benefit to member jurisdictions and to the region. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Setting the Context  Management Partners 
 

17 

 

Because the functions of an MPO and COG are typically consolidated 
within a single organization in major metropolitan areas in the state of 
California and because MTC and ABAG perform shared or otherwise 
linked legislative responsibilities, the idea of consolidating or merging 
these two organizations has arisen on multiple occasions over the last few 
decades. 

Plan Bay Area and SB 375 
AB 32, California’s Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006, was the State’s 
seminal response to the challenge of global climate change. SB 375 passed in 
2008 directs the Air Resources Board to set regional targets for the reduction 
of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Aligning these regional plans is 
intended to help California achieve GHG reduction goals for cars and light 
trucks under AB 32. SB 375 builds on the existing framework of regional 
planning to tie together the regional allocation of housing needs and regional 
transportation planning in an effort to reduce GHG emissions from motor 
vehicle trips. 

Because the existing regional transportation planning and housing allocation 
processes are overseen by local elected officials selected by their peers to 
serve on regional agency boards, the law is intended to ensure that cities and 
counties are closely involved in developing an effective plan for the region to 
achieve the targets. Essentially the legislature used the transportation 
planning and regional housing allocation process, which is housed in the 
same agency in every other metropolitan area of the state, to implement new 
SB 375 requirements to develop an SCS.  

Implementation of SB 375 was a huge challenge for metropolitan areas in the 
State, and an even bigger challenge in the Bay Area because ABAG and MTC 
had overlapping authority over SCS-related functions. Therefore, in SB 375 
legislation, the state outlined the corresponding roles of ABAG and MTC in 
preparing the SCS, as well as joint responsibilities.  

ABAG’s statutory responsibilities 

• Identify the general location of uses, residential densities, and 
building intensities within the region; 

• Identify areas within the region sufficient to house the existing and 
projected population, considering state housing goals; and 

• Gather and consider the best practically available scientific 
information regarding resource areas and farmland.  
 
 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Setting the Context  Management Partners 
 

18 

 

MTC’s statutory responsibilities 

• Identify a transportation network to service the transportation needs 
of the region, and 

• Allow the regional transportation plan to comply with Section 176 of 
the federal Clean Air Act. 

Joint statutory responsibilities 

• Set forth a forecasted development pattern for the region which, 
when integrated with the transportation network, will reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

The Bay Area is the only major metropolitan area in the state where 
preparation of the SCS is statutorily assigned to two different agencies. 

Development of the SCS in the Bay Area (called Plan Bay Area) was 
challenging for the region, MTC and ABAG. While the reasons for this are 
complex (both policy and administrative), the challenges were 
significantly compounded by a basic problem: Which agency has 
responsibility and authority to complete the SCS? 

Merger Study 
In October 2015 MTC adopted Resolution 4210, which would create an 
integrated regional planning department by functionally consolidating 
MTC and most, but not all, ABAG planning staff into a single unit within 
MTC. As outlined in Resolution 4210, the respective SB 375 statutory 
responsibilities of ABAG and MTC would remain the same after the 
functional consolidation of planning staff.  

This resolution was believed by MTC to be the best near-term approach 
to carry out the land use and transportation planning responsibilities set 
forth in SB 375 and reduce duplication of effort between the MTC and 
ABAG planning staff. Resolution 4210 also includes a provision to 
undertake a merger study to explore alternatives to the functional 
consolidation of planning staff and provides that, should the two 
agencies agree to an alternative, 4210 would not be implemented. The 
ABAG Administrative Committee also adopted a resolution expressing 
support of MTC’s resolution.  

In January 2016, MTC and ABAG hired Management Partners to conduct 
a merger study to examine the policy, management, financial and legal 
implications associated with further integration, up to and including 
institutional merger between MTC and ABAG. This engagement also 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Setting the Context  Management Partners 
 

19 

 

includes the development of a merger implementation plan for a single 
model selected by the Joint Committee.  

As noted in Resolution 4210, in the event that ABAG and MTC approve 
an alternative merger implementation plan prior to July 1, 2016, 
Resolution 4210 will not be implemented. 

Major Study Activities Leading to the Options Analysis 

Since January, Management Partners has concluded the following major 
activities to assist in our analysis and the Joint Committee’s consideration 
of merger options: 

• Conducted individual interviews with all Joint Committee 
members, MTC and ABAG executive directors, deputy directors 
and planning directors; 

• Conducted a workshop with the Joint Committee; 
• Prepared a merger study project website at 

mtcabagmergerstudy.com;  
• Held separate focus groups with MTC and ABAG planning staff; 
• Met with employee representatives for each agency; 
• Provided eight major metropolitan land use and transportation 

agency profiles (including MTC and ABAG) to provide 
information about major functional responsibilities and 
governance structures; 

• Implemented a stakeholder engagement plan that involved three 
regional forums and 28 separate meetings with elected officials, 
nongovernmental organizations, other regional agencies, and local 
jurisdiction professional staff, and provided a summary of the 
themes and comments; 

• Deployed an electronic survey for all city, town and county 
elected officials as well as BART and AC Transit Boards regarding 
regional land use and transportation planning in the Bay Area; 

• Completed a five-year financial forecast for MTC and ABAG; 
• Drafted a set of principles to guide the merger study options; and 
• Drafted three problem statements, a range of options to address 

them, and a set of evaluation criteria. 

The results and documentation of these activities were provided to 
the Joint Committee at their February and March 2016 meetings. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Setting the Context  Management Partners 
 

20 

 

ABAG and MTC Financial Forecast  
As part of the merger study, Management Partners performed a third- 
third party, six-year financial forecast (FY 2014-15 through FY 2021-22) 
for both MTC and ABAG under two scenarios.  

1. Funding Framework for 2014 (Funding Framework). The first 
scenario was based on the funding framework described in a June 
18, 2014 memo from the MTC executive director entitled Revised 
Funding Agreement for MTC/ABAG Joint Planning, Research and 
Administrative Facilities. The memo sets forth a Funding 
Framework that would guide future funding agreements for 
continued MTC support of the ABAG planning function.  
 

2. Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210. The second scenario 
examined the impact on both agencies following the 
implementation of MTC Resolution 4210.  

Both financial forecasts were presented at the March 25, 2016 meeting of 
the Joint Committee to inform the discussion about the organizational 
options analyzed in this report.  

Under both scenarios, the six-year financial forecast for MTC indicated an 
ongoing shortfall due to higher pension costs and the loss of Proposition 
84 planning grants. However such a short term deficit is not a significant 
concern because MTC maintains appropriate reserves and should be able 
to manage these impacts within their overall budget resources over the 
next six years. The fiscal outlook for MTC under both forecast scenarios is 
sound and stable.  

The financial forecasts for ABAG revealed that with or without the 
implementation of MTC Resolution 4210, ABAG faces an existing 
structural shortfall that is significant, but manageable, should it take 
appropriate and timely corrective action. ABAG’s reserves are already 
low and the available balance projected in FY 2016-17 leaves the agency’s 
balance at 2.6% of total expense, which is exceptionally low for any public 
agency.  

ABAG’s budget is built on limited discretionary income and a reliance on 
grants, as well as its contract with MTC. With low reserves, it faces 
financial challenges that will need to be addressed regardless of the 
outcome of the merger study. Implementation of Resolution 4210 will 
compound the problem. ABAG staff and the Executive Board will need to 
address the current structural shortfall in the near term and develop a 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Setting the Context  Management Partners 
 

21 

 

financial strategy that can sustain the agency if it is to continue its mission 
within the existing structure and framework.  

Employee Compensation, Benefits and Representation 
Employee compensation and benefits are an important part of this 
discussion and to ensure a full understanding of the differences between 
the two agencies, the following documents are attached to this report as 
information. 

• Appendix 1 contains a comparison of the benefits provided to 
employees of the two agencies. 

• Attachment B provides a comparison of base salaries for the 
planning staff of each agency. 

MTC employees are not affiliated with a union. The employee group, the 
Committee for Staff Representation (CSR), is responsible for all labor and 
employee relations. ABAG employees are affiliated with SEIU Local 1021, 
which represents them in all labor and employee relations. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

22 

 

Options Analysis  
This report analyzes seven alternative options for how MTC and ABAG 
could perform regional land use and transportation planning in the Bay 
Area, as well as the implications associated with the functional 
consolidation of planning staff within MTC under Resolution 4210.  

Merger Study Principles 
Based on outreach and discussion with members of the Joint Committee, 
elected officials and other stakeholders, Management Partners established 
nine principles to guide our analysis of alternative organizational options.  

1. Provides a sustainable, integrated and transparent land use and 
transportation planning function.  

2. Improves the efficiency and effectiveness of regional land use and 
transportation planning, services, and programs.  

3. Increases the transparency of regional land use and transportation 
policy decisions.  

4. Sustains or expands core agency services, operations and 
programs.  

5. Expands opportunities for broader stakeholder engagement in 
regional planning.  

6. Sustains the representative voice of cities and counties.  
7. Promotes comprehensive regional planning in the Bay Area.  
8. Preserves local land use authority.  
9. Provides an equitable and predictable transition for current and 

retired employees. 

These principles were developed to guide the analysis of this study. 
Should a new regional governance structure be pursued, it is likely these 
principles would be modified or expanded. 

List of Options 
At the March 25 meeting, nine options were presented. Following the 
discussion at the meeting and a subsequent review of the options, these 
have been reduced to seven. Options designated as 9 and 10 were 
deemed to have a number of commonalities and the differences were 
nuanced, so they were consolidated and reframed slightly differently. A 
summary of the seven options provided in this report is presented in 
Table 1.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

23 

 

Table 1. Options Analyzed  

Option Short Description 

MTC Resolution 4210 Consolidation of most planning functions in MTC 

Option 1 No structural change 

Option 2 Hire an independent planning director to manage all planning functions 

Option 3 Establish a new joint powers authority (JPA) to oversee all planning functions 

Option 4 Create a new regional agency and governance model 

Option 5 Create a new comprehensive regional agency and governance model 

Option 6 Execute a contract between MTC and ABAG to consolidate planning functions within 
MTC and enter into an MOU to create a new regional agency and governance model 

Option 7 Enter into a contract between ABAG and MTC to consolidate staff functions under 
one executive director and enter into an MOU to pursue new governance options 
(functional consolidation) 

Resolution 4210 is scheduled to take effect on June 1, 2016, if no other 
option is selected by the Joint Committee.  

Analysis Framework 
To facilitate a comparison of options, Management Partners developed a 
set of criteria, presented in Table 2, which enabled a quantifiable 
assessment of the merits of each option in five general areas.  

Table 2. Analysis Criteria for the Evaluation of Options 

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

1. Streamlines the SCS/PBA preparation process in the short term 

2. Clarifies and streamlines staff roles and responsibilities regarding the SCS/PBA process in the long term 

3. Fosters accountability for performance 

4. Integrates regional land use and transportation planning more effectively 

5. Integrates regional land use and transportation programs and services more effectively 

6. Expands career opportunities for agency staff 

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

7. Streamlines policy roles and responsibilities regarding the SCS/PBA process 

8. Increases the transparency of regional land use and transportation policy decisions  

9. Encourages the efficient use of elected officials’ time in support of effective decision making  

10. Encourages representative decision making 

11. Provides greater opportunity to address complex regional issues 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

24 

 

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

12. Maintains or provides opportunity to expand core services and programs 

13. Supports agency financial sustainability  

14. Maintains administrative support for programs and services 

D. Ease of Implementation* 

15. Requires legislative action 

16. Requires approval on new governing body 

E. Implementation Support* 

17. Retains ability to recruit and retain qualified, committed staff 

18. Maintains benefits for current retirees 

19. Addresses stakeholder interest in a unified regional planning agency 

20. Fosters support by local governments in the region  
*Within the narrative of the report, Ease of Implementation and Implementation Support are combined under the overall 
heading of Implementation Viability, as each is an important aspect of implementation. 

 

These criteria reflect input collected during interviews and meetings with 
members of the Joint Committee, Bay Area elected officials, MTC and 
ABAG staff, professional staff at local jurisdictions, non-governmental 
stakeholder organizations, and the general public.  

Management Partners evaluated each option based on the degree to 
which it meets the 20 criteria using a high, medium, or low scale.  

After weighting the criteria by level of importance, we calculated how 
well it meets the established criteria in each of the five major areas along a 
ten-point scale. The two areas involving implementation were scored 
separately, but are combined within the narrative of the report under the 
heading Implementation Viability. 

We do not recommend ranking the options by adding up the scores for 
the five major areas. For example, Option 5 is rated fairly high in several 
areas but may not merit further consideration due to its extremely low 
rating in regard to one area, ease of implementation. Other options may 
not have a high overall rating, but be strong candidates because they 
achieve certain goals or achieve a high ranking in a critical area. The 
numerical ratings are our best professional judgment in applying a range 
of criteria and provide a snapshot of how well the option meets the 
criteria in that area.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

25 

 

Option Profiles 
In the following pages, each option is explored separately within a single 
profile that presents:  

• A description of the option and its key features; 
• A review of the financial, policy, legal and employee impacts 

associated with the option; 
• A qualitative assessment of the degree to which the option meets 

the established criteria; and 
• A quantified snapshot of how well each option meets the 

established criteria across five major areas. Each area is given a 
rating along a ten-point scale. (A ten means the option meets all 
criteria within that area and one means the option does not meet or does 
little to meet the criteria within that area.)  
 

 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 26  

Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 – Consolidation of 
Most Planning Functions in MTC 

Description  

Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 consolidates most regional planning functions within 
MTC. Thirteen planning positions would be created in MTC and offered to ABAG incumbents. 
Nine planning positions would remain in ABAG, primarily in support of three programs 
including preparation of the Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA). The resolution 
provides a five-year annual transition payment to ABAG, but otherwise eliminates MTC’s 
current funding framework in support of ABAG planning activities.  

MTC and ABAG would remain separate, independent agencies, including their respective 
mission, governance structures, legal and statutory duties, responsibilities and authorities. 
ABAG would statutorily continue to be responsible for those activities set forth in SB 375 
regarding preparation of the SCS. Figure 1 provides a graphic depiction of this option.  

Figure 1. Graphic Depiction of MTC Resolution 4210 

 
Note: For clarity, the graphic only depicts a brief summary of planning unit functions (not the full 
range of ABAG’s and MTC’s responsibilities). 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

27 

General Impacts 

Legal  

Technically, there is no change to MTC or ABAG’s statutory duties, responsibilities and 
authorities. The governance and decision making structure would remain the same. With most 
staff planning functions transferred to MTC, however, ABAG legal counsel’s ability to advise 
ABAG’s governing body on regional land use and housing issues as they emerge will be 
constrained under this structure. While the planners in MTC may be able to access ABAG legal 
counsel for consultation, it will be challenging for that position to provide influence and 
direction if it is contrary to that provided by MTC management and legal counsel.  

Financial  

MTC – Resolution 4210 would add approximately $2.4 million in salary, benefit, and other post-
employment benefits (OPEB) costs, and another $1.2 million in indirect costs. This $3.6 million, 
combined with $1.75 million in transition funding and tenant improvements, results in a net 
cost increase of approximately $1 million annually compared with $4.3 million in commitments 
under the 2014 Funding Framework. Transition funding of $1.2 million would continue through 
FY 2021-22, the same year that funding of ABAG tenant improvements for the new San 
Francisco offices terminates.  

Assuming no adjustments, MTC’s total reserves are projected to decline from $36.7 million in 
FY 2014-15 to $26.5 million in FY 2021-22. The agency’s unrestricted balance declines from $23.1 
million in FY 2014-15 (38% of total expense) to $9 million in FY 2021-22 (16% of total expense). A 
significant reason (but not the only reason) for this net ongoing decline in balance is that MTC 
will be paying both transition funding to ABAG and the cost of the 13 new planners over the 
five-year period of FY 2016-17 through FY 2020-21. In addition, higher pension costs are 
expected, and Proposition 84 grants will no longer be available. However, MTC’s reserve levels 
are prudent, and thus are expected to provide a sufficient cushion for the agency to develop a 
plan over the forecast period to address this shortfall. 

ABAG – The reduction of 13 planning positions would reduce salary, benefit and OPEB costs by 
approximately $2.4 million. Additionally, $1.1 million in indirect costs currently allocated to the 
existing MTC contract would have to be spread over remaining grants and programs, or the 
agency would have to make cuts in overhead. MTC funding for planning services would be 
reduced from $3.8 million to $1.2 million, a loss of $2.6 million. The unfunded pension liability 
costs assigned to the 13 positions ($230,000 annually) must still be paid to CalPERS, so these 
costs are effectively reallocated over fewer remaining positions. Assuming no other cuts are 
made, this will result in a net overall annual budget shortfall of $440,000 in FY 2016-17.  

After the transition funding ends in FY 2021-22, the net loss will rise to $1.7 million. Without 
any corrective action, the combined impact of the preexisting structural shortfall caused by 
higher projected pension costs, and the implementation of MTC Resolution 4210, would reduce 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 28  

ABAG’s available fund balance from $1.8 million in FY 2014-15 (5% of total expense) to a $4 
million deficit in FY 2021-22.  

Table 3 summarizes the impact of Resolution 4210 in both FY 2016-17 and the year following the 
end of transition funding (FY 2021-22). These impacts isolate only the impact of Resolution 4210 
and exclude impacts of other changes such as increased pension costs and loss of Proposition 84 
funding. 

Table 3. Estimated Financial Impact of MTC Resolution 4210 

 Assumes 50% Split in New Costs 

FY 2021-22 MTC ABAG Joint 

Direct Cost Change $4,180,890 ($2,365,673) $1,815,217 

Framework (4,091,000) 4,091,000 - 

Transition Funding - - - 

Net Cost (Savings) $89,890 $1,725,327 $1,815,217 

FY 2016-17 MTC ABAG Joint 

Direct Cost Change $3,577,432 ($2,162,171) $1,415,261 

Framework (3,798,000) 3,798,000 - 

Transition Funding 1,200,000 (1,200,000) - 

Net Cost (Savings) $979,432 $435,829 $1,415,261 

Management  

Consolidation of most planning functions under one planning director would streamline 
preparation of the SCS and result in efficiencies and greater effectiveness in the allocation of 
planning staff resources across the board. The MTC planning director (and MTC executive 
director) as well as the consolidated staffing function would also be accountable for 
performance and most staff work in support of regional land use and transportation planning in 
the region. The MTC planning director reports to the MTC executive director, but also would 
oversee and provide staff support to the ABAG General Assembly, Executive Board and other 
ABAG Committees currently involved in regional land use planning and programs.  

The consolidated planning function would also be responsible for the delivery of regional 
planning services to local governments (although these are not as yet defined). Since ABAG’s SB 
375 and other land use statutory duties as well as its current mission would not change, the 
MTC planning director and planning staff would effectively also be accountable to a policy 
body (ABAG) that has no formal relationship to MTC management or its policy structure. 

Existing Employees  

Representation Status – ABAG planning staff moving to MTC would be represented by the 
existing MTC employee group unless the entire MTC collective bargaining unit was organized 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

29 

and employees elected to be represented by a union. For a bargaining unit to become 
represented by a union, employees would first need to present evidence of the desire to be 
represented through a card check process or by signing petitions. If the percentage of 
employees required by MTC’s Employer-Employee Relations Policy so indicate their interest in 
being represented, an election would then be held. Typically administered by the state, the 
election would result in all of the employees in the bargaining unit being represented by the 
selected union if 50% plus one of the employees in the unit voted affirmatively for such an 
affiliation.  

Compensation – Depending on the position into which they transitioned, ABAG planners 
moving to MTC would likely see an increase in compensation as MTC salaries for analogous 
classifications are higher.  

Benefits – Any ABAG planners moving to MTC would pay more for health, dental and vision 
benefits and would receive more vacation days per year. ABAG fiscal issues may impact 
remaining ABAG employees over time. These would be subject to the meet and confer process. 

Retirement Plan – Any ABAG employees moving to MTC would:  

• Be eligible for the MTC retirement plan. The only difference in the plans is that the MTC 
plan includes a survivor benefit and has a maximum 3% annual COLA as compared to 
ABAG’s 2%.  

• See an increase in their retirement contribution. “Classic” ABAG employees currently 
contribute 1% (increasing to 3% over the next two years), while “Classic” MTC 
employees contribute 5.73% (scheduled to increase to 8%). New Plan ABAG employees 
contribute 6.25% while those in MTC contribute 6.5%.  

• Upon retirement, pay 5% of their monthly retiree health premium (currently, ABAG 
pays the entire premium).  

• No longer be subject to Social Security contributions being deducted from their pay. 

Retiree Health – ABAG fiscal issues could have an impact over time on existing and future 
ABAG retiree health plans. ABAG employees hired since July 1, 2009 would move from 
receiving the PEMCHA minimum contribution plus $100 per month (retirement medical 
savings account) to the retiree medical benefits equivalent to those of current MTC employees.  

Policy 

MTC would be overtly assuming major regional planning policy roles and responsibilities, 
although the scope would need to be sorted out with the implementation of MTC Resolution 
4210. Technically, ABAG would retain its statutory responsibilities over the SCS as well as 
RHNA, but it will need to be made clear what other areas of regional planning MTC would 
assume with the transfer of most of the planning functions. MTC will provide staff support for 
ABAG’s regional land use responsibilities; technically, however, there will be little formal 
change to the bifurcated strategic and policy direction for regional land use and transportation 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 30  

planning and related programs between two agencies not formally linked by an integrated 
leadership or policy structure.  

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

Implementation of 4210 would consolidate much of the planning and implementation 
responsibility for PBA, and bring several other planning programs to the MTC Planning 
Department. Implementation of 4210 would leave the Regional Housing Needs Allocation, 
some Resilience Planning work and the Bay Trail in ABAG, as well as ABAG’s other non-
planning programs.  

Implementation of 4210 would clarify and streamline staff roles and responsibilities for PBA 
and increase accountability. However, 4210 would leave the housing allocations that are 
fundamental to PBA with ABAG staff. The RHNA process is on an eight-year cycle and will 
next be undertaken for the 2021 update of PBA, meaning the process is likely to begin sometime 
in 2018 or early 2019, and will not affect the PBA 2017 process. The role of the planners 
proposed to remain at ABAG until the RHNA process begins in earnest has not been 
established. ABAG staff have indicated that once RHNA begins, the community and 
jurisdictional engagement typically part of the RHNA process would require more than the two 
staff proposed under Resolution 4210 to remain at ABAG.  

Both agencies are currently involved in different aspects of resilience planning: MTC is involved 
with the transportation network; ABAG is involved with land use. An opportunity for a more 
holistic and comprehensive approach to resilience will not be addressed through 
implementation of 4210.  

Implementation of 4210 would allow for a single planning department that could integrate 
regional land use and transportation planning more effectively. However, many stakeholders 
and elected officials have voiced concerns about integrating land use planning into a 
transportation agency. The vast majority of stakeholders engaged in this process have stated 
that ABAG demonstrates a greater sensitivity to the diverse interests of local government, and 
has been significantly more engaged than MTC in addressing these interests as part of the PBA 
process.  

Because neither ABAG nor MTC have land use authority, regional plans are implemented 
jurisdiction by jurisdiction. Sensitivity to local concerns can help foster jurisdictional support for 
PBA and ultimately help with implementing increased integration of regional land use and 
transportation. For MTC to become the comprehensive regional planning agency for the Bay 
Area, it will need to modify its approach to planning to be more inclusive and responsive to 
local governments, and significantly broaden its mission. While these changes would be 
challenging for any organization, this level of change is certainly possible and will perhaps be 
furthered by the incorporation of ABAG staff that have performed these functions in the past.  

Implementation of 4210 would significantly increase the size of the Planning Department at 
MTC and thereby increase career opportunities for staff.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

31 

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

Implementation of 4210 would establish clear lines of responsibility and decision making for 
staff, but leave policy divided between the two agencies. MTC staff would report to the ABAG 
policy structure regarding those issues under ABAG’s purview, and to the MTC policy 
structure for those issues under MTC’s purview. Having only one staff group and a clear line of 
staff authority over the process should lead to fewer conflicts needing governing body review. 
A combined staff can also better monitor the committee review process to try to limit the 
duplication of effort by committee, and by staff.  

While duplication of effort in regards to MTC/ABAG committees can be reduced, the existing 
bifurcation of responsibilities between the two policy bodies would continue under 4210. This 
could lead to a continued lack of transparency in decision-making identified by stakeholders as 
a concern for PBA 2013 based on the lack of clear policy responsibility. The PBA process would 
still involve two agencies with their own committee/policy structure and potentially inefficient 
use of elected official’s time.  

Implementation of 4210 could also lead to inefficiency related to resolving disagreements 
between the two policy bodies about the allocation of staff resources for the PBA process. For 
example, ABAG could request that significantly increased staff resources be devoted to 
outreach to the public and/or to local jurisdictions, while MTC may decide that such outreach is 
not cost-effective or warranted. Increased collaboration and shared agreements could mitigate 
this issue.  

Since ABAG and MTC would retain their respective roles with regard to PBA 2017 under 4210, 
whether PBA 2017 is seen as a product of “representative decision making” would be similar to 
the perception of PBA 2013, assuming both agencies choose to adopt PBA. (Under state law, the 
MPO is required to prepare an SCS as an integral part of its RTP.) However, should that 
practice change and MTC not receive ABAG’s support for PBA 2017, local governments may be 
less supportive of the plan. 

Implementation of 4210 could lead to an opportunity to address more complex regional issues, 
as it could increase the staff resources available for such work. By reducing duplication of effort 
and allowing for a more streamlined PBA process, the level of staffing necessary for PBA 2017 
should be reduced compared to PBA 2013. Assuming no reduction in staff, and fewer resources 
needed for PBA 2017, there should be increased staff resources available to undertake new 
initiatives. Even without assuming PBA staff cost savings, MTC has greater financial resources 
at its disposal than ABAG, and therefore has greater flexibility to undertake new initiatives, 
without necessarily seeking outside grants.  

While MTC will have the ability and the resources to do more comprehensive regional 
planning, undertaking a wider range of planning activities will require MTC to redefine itself as 
more than a transportation agency, something it has already begun to do under the impetus of 
SB 375.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 32  

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

The financial analysis undertaken by Management Partners indicates that implementation of 
4210 would lead to some increased costs to MTC, but that it should not affect MTC’s ability to 
provide its core services and programs. Implementation of 4210 would not affect MTC’s 
financial stability or its ability to provide administrative support for programs and services.  

Implementation of 4210 would remove staff from ABAG that are currently responsible for what 
many of its member agencies consider to be one of its core services: regional land use planning. 
While the enlarged MTC Planning Department may be able to effectively replace the ABAG 
staff and provide equivalent or even better service, ABAG’s loss of staff control is likely to be 
perceived as making ABAG less able to influence and be effective in its regional land use 
planning role. The combined impact of ABAG’s pre-existing structural deficit, its reliance on 
discretionary revenues, and the implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 is projected to result in 
a $4 million deficit in FY 2021-22. Should a reduction in grants and service programs, or dues 
collection levels be experienced, the projected impact will worsen.  

D. Implementation Viability 

Implementation of 4210 would not require any legislative action as MTC has already adopted 
the resolution and the ABAG Administrative Committee expressed support for it (in 
conjunction with a commitment to undergo this merger study). A new funding framework 
(agreement) would likely ensue to set forth the transition funding committed to in the 
resolution. Such an agreement could describe the regional planning services to be provided to 
ABAG beyond those required by SB 375.  

MTC may be perceived as a more attractive agency than ABAG with respect to compensation 
and some benefits by ABAG planning staff; however, the issue of non-affiliation with a union 
may be a negative factor. Strong leadership and a careful transition plan will be needed for 
ABAG and MTC planning staff to consolidate into a well-functioning team. Remaining ABAG 
employees as well as retirees will be concerned about the ability of ABAG to continue its 
financial obligations to its current compensation and retirement plans.  

Implementation of 4210 would conceptually address the strong stakeholder interest in a unified 
regional planning agency since a single organization would have the vast majority of regional 
planning responsibility. However, the continued existence of two policy bodies with no change 
in their regional planning statutory responsibilities will limit the full integration of regional 
planning. Based on stakeholder meetings, implementation of 4210 is unlikely to be favorably 
received by most elected officials in the region. While they may believe having two separate 
staff and agencies responsible for PBA and regional planning generally is not efficient (and 
maybe not effective), perceptions about MTC’s organizational culture and its ability to respond 
to local government’s interests regarding regional planning issues are likely to be of major 
concern.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

33 

Based on the above criteria analysis, Figure 2 presents the overall numeric assessment for MTC 
Resolution 4210 across five major areas.  

Figure 2. Criteria Assessment Overview for MTC Resolution 4210 

 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 34  

Option 1 - No Structural Change 

Description  

Maintain MTC and ABAG as separate, independent agencies, including their respective 
mission, governance structures, legal and statutory authorities. Increase collaboration through a 
formally adopted conflict resolution process and facilitated sessions between the agencies to 
improve and streamline the Plan Bay Area process and other regional planning efforts. Review 
each agency’s planning work programs to reduce duplication and improve the effectiveness of 
those with overlapping services, goals and objectives. This option would require an ongoing 
funding framework by MTC to support ABAG planning services. Figure 3 provides a graphic 
depiction of this option. 

Figure 3. Graphic Depiction of Option 1 

 
Note: For clarity, the graphic only depicts a brief summary of planning unit functions (not the full 
range of ABAG’s and MTC’s responsibilities). 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

35 

General Impacts 

Legal  

With no change in either agency’s statutory roles or responsibilities, there would be no legal 
impact. 

Financial  

It is assumed that existing grants and funding sources and the June 2014 Funding Framework 
would continue over the forecast period of FY 2015-16 through FY 2021-22 with the tenant 
improvement portion concluding in FY 2020-21. There would be no organizational or 
governance change, but a formal conflict resolution process to facilitate improved inter-agency 
cooperation and resolve disputes may range from $50,000 to $200,000 in additional consultant 
costs annually. There may also be an impact on the time of current employees to develop and 
oversee the conflict resolution process. Taking into account both sources of costs we estimate a 
total cost of approximately $200,000 across both agencies, as indicated in Table 4.  

Table 4. Estimated Additional Annual Consulting Costs to be Shared by Both Agencies under Option 1 

  Assumes 50% Split in New Costs 

MTC ABAG Joint 

Conflict Resolution Process $100,000 $100,000 $200,000 

Net Cost (Savings) $100,000 $100,000 $200,000 

Management  

Preparation and management of a Sustainable Community Strategy, including a forecasted 
development pattern for the region, would continue to be managed by two different agencies 
under the leadership of two planning directors and two executive directors. Facilitated team-
building could clarify duties and responsibilities and lead to formal, shared agreements about 
performance, accountability and cost-effective use of staff resources. 

Existing Employees  

Representation Status – There would be no change in representation status for either group of 
employees. 

Compensation – There would be no change in compensation for either group of employees. 

Benefits – There would be no immediate change in benefits for either group of employees. 
ABAG fiscal issues may have an impact on existing ABAG employees which would be subject 
to the meet and confer process. 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 36  

Retirement 

• There would be no change in current retirement benefits for either group of employees.  
• There would be no immediate change in the current employee retirement contribution 

rate for either group of employees. ABAG fiscal issues may require a change, which 
would be subject to the meet and confer process. 

• There would be no immediate change in the current retiree health benefits for either 
group of employees. ABAG fiscal issues could have an impact over time on existing and 
future retiree health plans. 

• There would be no change in Social Security coverage for either group of employees.  

Policy  

No structural change would continue the bifurcated strategic and policy direction for regional 
land use and transportation planning and related programs between two agencies not formally 
linked by an integrated leadership or policy structure. Improved collaboration and 
teambuilding may result in better and more consistent communication to elected officials, as 
well as a more effective allocation of responsibilities that take advantage of the strengths of each 
organization. Improving the accountability and transparency regarding decision making by 
elected officials across two agencies on issues that cross boundaries will continue to be 
challenging. 

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

This option assumes that the agency staff will work together to improve and streamline the PBA 
process, clarify roles and responsibilities and reach agreement as to accountability. It also 
assumes that a formal conflict resolution process will be adopted to address disputes between 
the two agencies. While improvements could be made in the PBA development process through 
increased collaboration and dispute resolution, there are structural issues associated with 
having two agencies working on the same project without a single line of authority that would 
be difficult to fully resolve. The project will continue to involve two agencies under two 
planning directors and two executive directors. It is likely there will continue to be questions 
about who is accountable for what part of the PBA process and the PBA product. 
Implementation of a conflict resolution process may allow for less protracted and heated 
disagreements between the two agencies, but implementation of that process itself takes time 
and can delay progress. This option is unlikely to substantially improve operational 
performance and accountability. 

Option 1 will leave each agency with its separate focus and is unlikely to better integrate 
regional planning functions or services. It would not further integrate regional land use and 
transportation planning in the region. This option will retain the status quo in regard to career 
opportunities within each agency.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

37 

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

Under PBA 2013, the role of the many policy committees related to PBA seems to have not been 
clearly defined and many committees were engaged in various aspects of PBA, frustrating 
stakeholders (including local agency staff) who were trying to follow and engage in the process. 
The process was equally frustrating to many elected officials, many of whom were on more 
than one committee and heard the same presentation over and over again. It is possible that 
working more collaboratively, the two agency staffs could streamline the committee review 
process to remove some duplication of effort and clarify which committee and which agency is 
responsible for which portions of PBA. But it is very likely that each agency (and its 
committees) will want to be engaged in the preparation and policy determinations of PBA 2017, 
leading to substantial overlap and lack of clear responsibility. This option is therefore unlikely 
to encourage the efficient use of elected officials’ time, or create a significantly more transparent 
process for stakeholders.  

For PBA 2013, both ABAG and MTC chose to adopt PBA. To the degree this remains a policy of 
both agencies, PBA will likely retain whatever perception currently exists in regard to it being a 
product of a representative process. However, as the SCS is an element of the RTP, MTC is 
ultimately responsible for its final adoption. MTC is generally perceived by local elected 
officials as less representative of the region’s 110 jurisdictions than ABAG, due to its focus as a 
transportation agency and MPO.  

Finally, this option would not increase the ability of the two agencies to undertake complex 
regional issues. Each agency is likely to retain its focus on core areas of interest and 
responsibility, with ABAG almost entirely dependent on grants to undertake work on any new 
regional issues.  

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

Option 1 assumes the continuation of the 2014 Funding Framework. As the funding agreement 
with ABAG is annually approved by MTC, it would leave some uncertainty as to the future 
financial health of ABAG should MTC choose to modify its funding agreement in the future. 
Continuing the funding agreement with ABAG should not have a significant impact on MTC’s 
financial health, but it leaves MTC with an indefinite financial responsibility with little control 
over costs or performance by ABAG.  

Given ABAG’s financial fragility, it is unlikely to be able to expand core services and programs 
unless it receives grants to do so from other sources. With continuing monitoring and budget 
management, ABAG should be able to continue to provide administrative support for its 
programs and services.  

D. Implementation Viability 

This option would require that MTC implement a new funding framework agreement with 
ABAG. It would not require any action by the state legislature. As noted above, as MTC’s long-

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 38  

term support for ABAG is not assured, any continuing uncertainty regarding ABAG’s financial 
health will compromise its ability to retain and recruit staff.  

This option will not address the strong stakeholder interest in creating a unified regional 
agency, nor will it address one of the key issues that led to this study as expressed by MTC: the 
lack of clear responsibility and a single line of authority for the PBA process. On the other hand, 
this option is likely to garner support from the many local elected officials that have voiced 
concern over the potential for ABAG to lose a significant portion of its planning function to 
MTC, and who may not be ready to make a commitment to creating a single new regional 
agency.  

Based on the above criteria analysis, Figure 4 presents the overall numeric assessment for 
Option 1 across five major areas.  

Figure 4. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 1 

 

 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

39 

Option 2 – Hire an independent planning director to manage 
all planning functions 

Description  

Hire an “independent” planning director (under joint contact to both ABAG and MTC) 
responsible for all regional planning functions who would report to a Joint Committee of ABAG 
(Administrative Committee) and MTC (Planning Committee). Under pension agency rules, the 
planning director would be an employee of either ABAG or MTC; the selection process would 
need to be determined.  

The programs and responsibilities of the planning unit would be determined based on 
agreements reached during the implementation process; however, staff would be assigned from 
both agencies. MTC and ABAG would remain as separate, independent agencies, including 
their respective missions, governance structures, legal and statutory duties, responsibilities and 
authorities.  

While SB 375 statutory duties assigned to each agency would remain, the consolidated staffing 
function would be responsible for development of the SCS under the oversight of the Joint 
Committee. (Whether MTC would continue its current funding framework in support of ABAG 
planning services would need to be addressed.) Figure 5 is a graphic depiction of this option. 

Figure 5. Graphic Depiction of Option 2 

 
Note: For clarity, the graphic only depicts a brief summary of planning unit functions (not the full 
range of ABAG’s and MTC’s responsibilities). 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 40  

 

General Impacts 

Legal  

Technically, there is no change to MTC or ABAG’s statutory duties, responsibilities and 
authorities. The governance and decision making structure would remain the same. However, 
with most, and possibly all staff planning functions assigned to an “independent” planning 
director under the oversight of a joint planning committee, respective agency legal staff would 
likely find it challenging to provide legal counsel regarding regional transportation and land 
use planning matters, and housing issues as they emerge. Unless independent legal counsel 
were hired (at an additional cost), the planning director would also be challenged to consider 
which legal advice should be considered or binding.  

Financial  

Assuming that all planning functions of both agencies were to be consolidated under the new 
planning director, this assessment assumes that the two current directors of planning for each 
organization would be replaced with a single director of planning at a somewhat higher cost, 
together with a support staff person and other costs associated with maintaining a separate 
position and reporting relationship (including office and supplies). The independent planning 
director could be a current employee or someone new from outside the two agencies. This 
person would have to be an employee of one agency or the other, but would report to the Joint 
Committee. Other planning staff would remain as employees of their respective agencies.  

Table 5 shows the impact of direct and indirect cost changes across both agencies is a net annual 
savings of approximately $119,000 to the planning functions of both agencies. We have also 
included one-time recruiting costs of $30,000. These impacts are predicated on FY 2016-17 costs 
and indirect rates. 

Table 5. Estimated Financial Impact of Option 2 

  
 

Assumes 50% Split in New Costs 

MTC ABAG Joint 

Existing Planning Directors ($311,000) ($298,000) ($609,000) 

New Planning Director 165,000 165,000 330,000 

Support Position and Other Operations and Maintenance Costs 100,000 100,000 200,000 

Change in Overhead Costs (24,840) (14,850) (39,690) 

Net Cost (Savings) ($70,840) ($47,850) ($118,690) 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

41 

Management  

A consolidated planning function under an independent planning director would streamline 
preparation of the SCS and result in efficiencies and greater effectiveness of staff resources. The 
position would be accountable for performance and most staff work in support of regional land 
use and transportation planning (to be defined) in the region. The consolidated planning 
function would also be responsible for the delivery of regional planning services to the region, 
including ABAG members.  

The independent planning director would report directly to the Joint Committee, with a matrix 
relationship to the agency executive directors, meaning advisory. However, the planning 
director would have to be an employee of one agency for purposes of compensation and 
benefits (costs to be shared by both agencies), and therefore would actually be under the 
oversight and management of one of the executive directors (agreements could be reached as to 
how this would actually work). While accountable to the Joint Committee for performance, this 
option proposes that the position would have command and control over the assigned planning 
staff from both agencies. Since the planning staff would still be employees of either ABAG or 
MTC, the director would be challenged to manage employee performance issues under two 
different agency employee relations frameworks.  

Existing Employee Impacts  

Representation Status – There would be no change in representation status for either group of 
employees. 

Compensation – There would be no change in compensation for either group of employees. 

Benefits –- There would be no change in benefits for either group of employees. ABAG fiscal 
issues could have an impact over time on ABAG employees which would be subject to the meet 
and confer process. 

Retirement 

• There would be no change in current retirement benefits for either group of employees.  
• There would be no immediate change in the current employee retirement contribution 

rate for either group of employees. ABAG fiscal issues may require a change which 
would be subject to the meet and confer process. 

• There would be no immediate change in the current or future retiree health benefits for 
either group of employees. ABAG fiscal issues could have an impact over time for 
existing and future retiree health plans. 

• There would be no change in Social Security coverage for either group of employees.  

Policy  

Both ABAG and MTC would technically retain their major regional land use, transportation and 
housing policy roles and responsibilities as well as other statutory responsibilities. While the 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 42  

Joint Committee may provide oversight and direction to the new, independent planning 
director, there would be little formal change to the bifurcated strategic and policy direction for 
regional land use and transportation planning and related programs between two agencies not 
formally linked by an integrated leadership or policy structure.  

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

By creating an independent planning director with direct reporting responsibility to the Joint 
Committee, there should be significantly increased clarity about roles and responsibilities and 
increased accountability for PBA. Each of the agencies would assign staff based on a defined 
planning work group and program and a funding agreement between the two agencies. As an 
independent planning group, the planners could more readily focus on integrating land use and 
transportation issues as they will not be within the framework of either a transportation or land 
use-focused agency, but part of a group focused on integration (pursuant to the SCS). Such a 
group would likely not be focused programmatically, except in regard to implementing PBA, 
assuming PBA implementation (such as the One Bay Area Grant program) was one of its 
assigned responsibilities. Most program responsibilities would remain with the separate 
agencies unless otherwise determined.  

This option would not expand career opportunities, and may narrow them as the planners 
would be somewhat isolated from their parent agencies. Also, employees would be reporting to 
an independent planning director who would have limited ability to evaluate and promote 
them. 

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

As noted under Option 1, there was a perceived lack of transparency with PBA 2013 due to the 
lack of clearly assigned policy responsibility between the two agencies and their various 
committees. For this reason, the PBA 2013 process did not make efficient use of elected officials’ 
time, as many elected officials sat on more than one committee and were subjected to multiple 
presentations on the same subject. This option clarifies staff roles and would establish a single 
oversight body for preparation of the SCS and PBA as a whole. However, it does not clarify 
which ABAG or MTC committee should be engaged and when in the process. The proposed 
single planning director is likely to be more effective in avoiding duplication of committee 
efforts, working directly with the chairs of the various committees, but is unlikely to be able to 
entirely eliminate the inefficiencies of the PBA 2013 process.  

With this option, the two agencies would retain their respective roles regarding preparation and 
adoption of PBA. To the degree that PBA 2013 was perceived as the product of a representative 
process, the same perception would likely apply to PBA 2017. This option could lead to the 
establishment of a single regional planning department with responsibility for most if not all 
planning for the two agencies, subject to final approval of those plans by each of the parent 
agencies.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

43 

While a joint committee of the two agencies would likely avoid most disagreements between 
the parent agencies and the plans arising from the planning department, policy disagreements 
could arise that would be difficult to resolve. Moreover, after approval, plans would need to be 
integrated into the operations and implementation programs of each of the parent agencies. 
Separating policy development from those staff implementing policy could lead to 
implementation challenges.  

Whether this option would provide an opportunity to address regional issues beyond those of 
existing planning programs will depend on the two agencies agreeing to assign those issues to 
the planning group and then fund the work, and/or allow the planning director to 
independently seek grants or other resources to work on other issues.  

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

Option 2 assumes the continuation of the 2014 Funding Framework. As the funding agreement 
with ABAG is annually approved by MTC, it would leave some uncertainty as to the future 
financial health of ABAG should MTC choose to modify its funding agreement in the future. 
While hiring a new planning director (and expected administrative support) might increase 
some costs, this cost could be offset by savings elsewhere in the agencies. Any increased costs 
are not expected to be significant and would not affect the underlying financial situation of 
either agency.  

Given ABAG’s financial fragility, it is unlikely to be able to expand core services and programs 
unless it receives grants to do so from other sources. With continuing monitoring and budget 
management, ABAG should be able to provide administrative support for its programs and 
services under this option. This option would leave MTC with an indefinite financial 
responsibility with little control over costs or performance under a funding agreement.  

D. Implementation Viability 

This option would require both agencies to mutually agree to a work program for the new 
planning group, assign responsibility for oversight of that work program to the current Joint 
Committee (or some other similar body), and provide shared funding for any new position(s) 
that may be needed. MTC would need to agree to continue to provide funding to ABAG to 
support its planning program. This option does not include a further step toward a new agency, 
so it is assumed for this option that MTC’s commitment to fund some portion of ABAG’s 
planning function would continue indefinitely.  

As staff would remain employed by their respective agencies, the ability to recruit and retain 
staff should not be substantially different than today. However, having a dual de facto reporting 
relationship (to an independent planning director, and to an executive director within the 
parent agency) could prove frustrating for staff, especially if any conflicts arise regarding 
assignments and priorities between the planning group director and managers in the respective 
agencies.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 44  

Assuming funding for ABAG planning functions as suggested in the funding framework, 
ABAG retiree benefits should remain secure. However, as noted in the ABAG financial forecast, 
even with continued MTC funding, ABAG’s financial sustainability is at risk and needs to be 
addressed.  

By leaving the ABAG and MTC structure intact, the existing relationship that each agency has 
with local governments would be maintained. A more unified and clear line of authority and 
responsibility, increased accountability, and a somewhat more efficient process should increase 
local government support for the PBA process. However, this option would not address 
stakeholder interest in a unified regional agency with an accountable and transparent staffing 
and policy structure. 

Based on the above criteria analysis, Figure 6 presents the overall numeric assessment for 
Option 2 across five major areas.  

Figure 6. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 2 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

45 

Option 3 – Establish a New Joint Powers Authority (JPA) to 
Oversee all Planning Functions 

Description  

Establish a new joint powers authority (JPA) with members from ABAG and MTC for purposes 
of potentially providing regional planning services (to be defined) to each agency. Hire a 
planning director reporting directly to the JPA governing board responsible for those powers 
“common to both agencies” regarding regional land use, housing, and transportation planning 
as determined by the JPA. Administrative support services to the JPA would be provided under 
contract by either MTC or ABAG; however, it is assumed each agency would provide 
proportionate funding to support the JPA. Staff would be assigned under contract from both 
agencies to support those activities determined to be eligible to be carried out by the JPA 
reporting to the new planning director, but would remain employees of MTC and ABAG. MTC 
and ABAG would remain as separate, independent agencies, including their respective mission, 
and governance structures. (Whether MTC would continue its current funding framework in 
support of ABAG planning services would need to be addressed.) Figure 7 provides a graphic 
depiction of this option. 

Figure 7. Graphic Depiction of Option 3 

 
Note: For clarity, the graphic only depicts a brief summary of planning unit functions (not the full 
range of ABAG’s and MTC’s responsibilities). 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 46  

General Impacts 

Legal  

A determination would need to be made regarding the common powers with respect to 
regional planning that would be assigned to a JPA. ABAG’s current JPA refers to “the power to 
study, discuss and recommend policies for solution of metropolitan area problems of direct 
concern to their – member – constitutional and statutory functions.” As MTC would remain the 
MPO and ABAG the COG, a careful analysis of the purpose of the JPA and its potential powers 
and responsibilities would be required.  

With the potential for most, and possibly all staff planning functions assigned to a consolidated 
planning function under the oversight of an independent planning director and JPA governing 
board, respective agency legal staff would find it challenging to provide legal counsel on behalf 
of their policy bodies regarding regional transportation and land use planning matters, and 
housing issues as they emerge. Further, as an independent employee of the JPA, the planning 
director would also be challenged to consider which legal advice should be considered. It is 
possible that such a JPA would need to contract outside legal counsel. 

Financial  

Assuming most planning functions were determined eligible to be carried out by the JPA, this 
high-level financial impact analysis assumes that the two current directors of planning for each 
organization would be replaced with a single director of planning at a somewhat higher cost, 
together with a support staff person and other costs associated with maintaining a separate 
position and reporting relationship (including office and supplies). The independent planning 
director would be an employee of the JPA, but other planning staff would remain as employees 
of their respective agencies. There would be additional legal and administrative costs on an 
annual basis.  

Table 6 estimates the net annual impact of direct and indirect cost changes across both agencies 
is approximately $180,000, which may be low. In addition, there would be one-time recruiting 
costs of $30,000, and one-time set-up cost of the JPA of at least $200,000. The impacts below are 
predicated on FY 2016-17 costs and indirect rates. 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

47 

 

Table 6. Estimated Financial Impact of Option 3 

  Assumes 50% Split in New Costs 

MTC ABAG Joint 

JPA Legal/Admin Costs $100,000 $100,000 $200,000 

Existing Planning Directors (311,000) (298,000) (609,000) 

New Planning Director 165,000 165,000 330,000 

Support Position and Other Operations and Maintenance Costs 100,000 100,000 200,000 

Change in Overhead Costs 29,160 30,150 59,310 

Net Cost (Savings) $83,160 $97,150 $180,310 

Management  

A consolidated planning function under an independent planning director reporting to an 
independent governing board would streamline preparation of the SCS and result in some 
efficiencies, and likely more effective use of staff resources. The JPA would be accountable for 
most of the regional land use and transportation planning (yet to be defined) in the region. 
Since employees would remain employees of ABAG and MTC, administrative services (human 
resources and financial) would remain separate.  

This framework would also provide for performance and accountability by one individual, 
reporting to an independent governing board. There would be no formal relationship to the 
agency executive directors. The planning director would be accountable to the JPA governing 
body and have command and control over the assigned planning staff from both agencies. Since 
the planning staff would still be employees of either ABAG or MTC, the director would be 
challenged to manage employee performance issues under two different agency employee 
relations frameworks.  

Existing Employees  

• Representation Status – There would be no change in representation status for either 
group of employees. 

• Compensation – There would be no change in compensation for either group of 
employees. 

• Benefits – There would be no change in benefits for either group of employees. ABAG 
fiscal issues could have an impact on ABAG employees which would be subject to the 
meet and confer process. 

• Retirement Plan – There would be no change in current retirement benefits for either 
group of employees.  

• Employee Retirement Contribution – There would be no change in employee retirement 
contribution rate for either group of employees. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 48  

• Retiree Health – There would be no change in retiree health benefits for either group of 
employees. ABAG fiscal issues could have an impact over time on existing and future 
retiree health plans. 

• Social Security Coverage – There would be no change in Social Security coverage.  

Policy  

Following a delegation of duties, responsibilities and authorities (pending legal assessment), the 
policy roles of ABAG and MTC regarding regional land use and transportation planning may 
change. However, it is assumed that MTC would remain the MPO and ABAG the COG, which 
would result in confusing policy roles and decision making responsibilities to the region. While 
the JPA would provide oversight and direction to the planning director, as the MPO and COG 
would continue to exist, transparency regarding strategic and policy direction for regional land 
use and transportation planning and related programs would not improve and would be 
confusing.  

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

If a new JPA were able to assume responsibility for PBA, the roles, responsibilities and 
accountability for PBA would be clear. However, as PBA or the SCS must be incorporated into 
the region’s RTP, and preparation and adoption of the RTP is one of the key functions of a 
metropolitan planning organization (MTC), it is unclear how a new agency preparing PBA 
would relate back to MTC, which is charged with and held accountable for adopting and 
implementing the RTP. The respective roles and responsibilities for the JPA, the COG and the 
MPO would have to be very clearly set forth, and the process of doing this would be 
challenging.  

Assuming these roles and responsibilities could be established as common powers able to be 
delegated to a JPA, each of the agencies would need to agree to a work program and assign staff 
based on the scope of those roles and responsibilities. As an independent planning group, the 
JPA planners could more readily focus on integrating land use and transportation issues as they 
will not be within the framework of either a transportation or land use-focused agency, but part 
of a group focused on integration (pursuant to the SCS). Assuming funding for staff is funneled 
through the JPA and the JPA director would contract for staff with the two agencies, the 
director may have greater ability to hold staff accountable.  

While a new JPA governing body appointed by both agencies could avoid most disagreements 
between the parent agencies and the plans arising from the new JPA, policy disagreements 
could arise that would be difficult to resolve. Moreover, after approval, plans would need to be 
integrated into the operations and implementation programs of each of the parent agencies. 
Separating policy development from those staff implementing policy can lead to 
implementation challenges. Whether the new JPA would be assigned authority for 
implementation of PBA (and some funding resources, such as oversight for One Bay Area 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

49 

grants) would need to be determined. The relationship between the planning function under the 
JPA and the two agencies charged with implementing those plans would need to be defined.  

This option would not expand career opportunities, and may narrow them as the planners 
would be somewhat isolated from their parent agencies. Also, the employees would be 
reporting to an independent planning director who would have limited ability to evaluate and 
promote. 

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

If the new JPA were assigned preparation of Plan Bay Area, clear policy responsibility under 
the JPA governing body would also be established. The JPA could, in turn, establish committees 
to oversee aspects of PBA, similar to the two parent agencies. The transparency of decision 
making under a JPA should therefore increase. The “dueling” agency problem that was evident 
under PBA 2013 is likely to be significantly reduced.  

However, MTC and ABAG would continue to exist with their own committee structures, 
involving the same local government officials as those involved in the JPA. While there would 
be less meeting duplication for PBA responsibilities (and therefore, potentially fewer PBA-
oriented meetings), the overall meeting responsibility is unlikely to decrease, and may very well 
increase. While the JPA would have some independence from the two parent agencies, the two 
parent agencies are likely to want regular reporting to them regarding the activities of the JPA, 
leading to additional demands on staff and elected officials. 

If the JPA could be assigned full responsibility for PBA, the question of whether the preparation 
of PBA was a result of representative decision making will depend in part on the structure of 
the JPA’s governing board. The governance issues that have arisen from local elected officials 
during the stakeholder outreach process for this merger study would need to be resolved: how 
are the interests of small governments and major cities balanced? While the members of any 
JPA governing board would almost certainly be local elected officials, their role on the JPA 
Board will be a further step removed from their home jurisdictions, as they would be appointed 
by the two regional agencies’ governing boards. This distance from their elected positions 
would increase concerns expressed by some stakeholders about the ability to hold elected 
officials accountable for their actions on regional agency boards, and may also cause concern 
from other elected officials in each county as to who the individuals on the JPA Board are 
representing.  

The degree to which this option would provide an opportunity to address other regional issues 
will depend on a determination of the powers, including financial, able to be delegated to the 
JPA.  

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

Option 3 assumes the continuation of the 2014 or similar funding framework. As the funding 
agreement with ABAG is annually approved by MTC, it would leave some uncertainty as to the 
future financial health of ABAG should MTC choose to modify its funding agreement in the 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 50  

future. Creation of a JPA is expected to have some one-time costs and annual ongoing costs. 
This level of expenditure would not be expected to significantly impact the underlying financial 
condition of either agency. Nonetheless, given ABAG’s need to address its overall financial 
sustainability, it is unlikely to be able to expand core services and programs under this option 
unless it receives grants to do so from other sources.  

D. Implementation Viability 

This option assumes that legal grounds may be found to establish such a JPA in accordance 
with state law. Other regional planning agencies in the state, e.g., SACOG and SCAG operate 
under JPAs. If determined to be viable, it would require both agencies to mutually agree to 
create a new joint powers authority, decide which programmatic responsibilities to assign to 
that new authority, agree on a governance structure for that new authority, and then fund it.  

There would be some significant costs associated with the creation of this new agency, both in 
staff and elected officials’ time, and direct costs for consultants (legal, etc.). As noted earlier, it is 
unclear what the relation of this new agency would be to the parent agencies, especially MTC, 
which has statutory responsibility for the RTP and must integrate the RTP into its operations 
and funding. This option does not include a further step toward a new agency, so it is assumed 
for this option that MTC’s commitment to fund some portion of ABAG’s planning function 
would continue indefinitely.  

As staff would remain employed by their respective agencies, the ability to recruit and retain 
staff should not be substantially different than today. However, the dual de facto reporting 
relationship (to an independent planning director hired by the JPA, and to an executive director 
within the parent agency) could prove frustrating for staff, especially if any conflicts arise in 
regard to assignments and priorities between the JPA director and managers in the parent 
agencies.  

Assuming that funding for ABAG planning functions as suggested in the 2014 Funding 
Framework continued, ABAG retiree benefits should remain secure. However, as noted in our 
analysis of ABAG’s finances, even with continued MTC funding, ABAG’s financial 
sustainability is at risk.  

Whether this new JPA is supported by local governments will be highly dependent on the 
governance structure. However, while a step forward, this option would not address 
stakeholder interest in a unified regional agency with an accountable and transparent staffing 
and policy structure. 

Based on the above criteria analysis, Figure 8 shows the overall numeric assessment for Option 
3 across five major areas.  

 

 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

51 

 

Figure 8. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 3 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 52  

Option 4 – Create a New Regional Agency and Governance 
Model 

Description  

Enter into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) between MTC and ABAG to create a new 
governance model that integrates the MPO (MTC) and the COG (ABAG). The MOU would set 
forth the principles, parameters and basic terms to guide the creation of a new regional agency 
and governance model for the region. Until a new agency is created and integration achieved, 
MTC and ABAG would remain as separate, independent agencies, including their respective 
mission, governance structures, legal and statutory duties, responsibilities and authorities. 
ABAG would statutorily continue to be responsible for those activities set forth in SB 375 
regarding preparation of the SCS. Figure 9 on the following page provides a graphic depiction 
of this option. 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

53 

Figure 9. Graphic Depiction of Option 4 

 
Note: For clarity, the graphic only depicts a brief summary of planning unit functions (not the full range 
of ABAG’s and MTC’s responsibilities). 

General Impacts 

Legal  

Entering into an MOU would result in a formal agreement between ABAG and MTC to create a 
new regional agency and governance structure and set forth the guiding principles, parameters 
and basic terms to guide its establishment. Following a determination about the governance 
structure, duties and responsibilities of a new regional agency, as well as a financial assessment 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 54  

and proposed staffing plan, state legislation would be required to transfer the current statutory 
duties and responsibilities of MTC and ABAG to the new agency. Both ABAG and MTC have 
ancillary JPAs staffed by their respective agency personnel, which would have to enter into new 
contracts with a new agency for the same purpose if they wish to remain affiliated with the 
successor agency.  

Other authorities such as the Bay Area Toll Authority (BATA) have significant authorities, 
duties and responsibilities as well as fiduciary obligations that would have to be examined 
carefully to ensure the process would not impact operational commitments during the next 
several years. Financing authorities as well as bond documents would also have to be reviewed 
to determine whether there are any significant obstacles to a successor agency.  

Financial  

If MTC and ABAG choose an option that involves creating a new agency, a more in-depth 
financial assessment will be required. Such an assessment would need to include a detailed 
analysis of each agency’s existing financial liabilities and their future impact on the finances of a 
newly created agency. The high-level assessment (base assumptions) in this report is based on 
our experience with other mergers. Under a new regional agency, it is assumed there would be 
a net reduction of one executive director position in addition to one less planning director at a 
minimum.  

Given the overall merger of staff, we believe it is reasonable to expect at least a 10% overall 
reduction in remaining overhead costs, which is likely conservative. Efficiencies and economies 
of scale typically result in greater cost savings. The overall impact for both agencies is therefore 
projected at a $2.6 million in net annual savings, as indicated in Table 7. There would be one-
time recruiting costs of $80,000 for the new executive director and planning director positions, 
and one-time implementation costs (legal and consulting) of at least $500,000. This option 
assumes that Resolution 4210 is replaced by adequate funding to avoid adverse fiscal impacts 
on ABAG during the period of negotiation and implementation of the new organization.  

Table 7. Estimated Financial Impact of Option 4 

 Assumes 50% Split in New Costs 

MTC ABAG Joint 

Existing Executive Directors ($456,000) ($363,000) ($819,000) 

New Executive Director 237,500 237,500 475,000 

Existing Planning Directors (311,000) (298,000) (609,000) 

New Planning Director 165,000 165,000 330,000 

10% Reduction in Overhead Costs (1,652,271) (302,632) (1,954,903) 

Net Cost (Savings) ($2,016,771) ($561,132) ($2,577,903) 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

55 

Management  

Until such time as a new regional agency is created, the current management, performance and 
accountability issues associated with preparation of the SCS and PBA would likely continue 
until and unless shared agreements reset how the agencies currently work together on regional 
planning programs and services.  

A new regional agency would result in a completely consolidated regional planning 
organization (along with other programs, operations and services) under a single management 
and leadership structure. This would result in clear and consistent direction to staff and 
transparency to the governing body or bodies and the public about who is responsible for 
implementing the region’s vision. It would also present significant opportunity for the agency’s 
management and leadership to integrate both agencies into a cohesive, efficient and well-
functioning organization with a shared mission, vision and values.  

Existing Employees 

Representation Status – In a new agency, the first determination to be made would be whether to 
offer positions to existing employees in the two agencies or to fill positions through an open 
recruitment process. This decision would be made as part of the process to establish the new 
agency and would be done under collective bargaining rules and in consultation with existing 
employee groups. A bargaining unit in the new agency would be unrepresented until such time 
as a majority of all employees in the unit elected to be represented by one or more unions. For 
the bargaining unit to become represented, employees would first need to present evidence of 
the desire to be represented through a card check process or by signing petitions. Typically 
administered by the state, such an election would result in all of the employees in the agency 
being represented by a union if 50% plus one of the employees in the unit voted affirmatively 
for such an affiliation. 

Compensation – Compensation levels would be established as part of a meet and confer process 
under state law with the employees of the new agency. If they were set at the current MTC 
level, former ABAG staff may see an increase in compensation depending on the position. 

Benefits – Benefits would be established as part of a meet and confer process under state law 
with employees of the new agency. They could be set to mirror the current MTC benefits, the 
current ABAG benefits, or a different set of benefits. 

Retirement Plan  

• The retirement plan would be established as part of a meet and confer process within 
the options available through CalPERS. Both agencies currently have a 2.5% @ 55 plan 
for “Classic” employees and the required 2% @ 62 plan for new plan employees. The 
current MTC retirement plan includes a survivor benefit while the ABAG plan does not. 
The current MTC plan includes a 3% annual COLA while the ABAG plan includes a 2% 
COLA. Either of these options could be selected by the new agency. The current rate 
paid by MTC includes these options and, if both were selected, the contribution rate 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 56  

would likely be set at the current MTC rate (although this would need to be confirmed 
with CalPERS for a new agency). 

• The employee contribution for Classic employees would be established as part of a meet 
and confer process under state law. New plan employees are required to pay the full 
employee contribution rate set by PERS. Currently, ABAG employees pay a 1% 
retirement contribution with this amount increasing to 2% and 3% over the next two 
years. Classic MTC employees pay a 5.73% retirement contribution, increasing to 8% 
over the next several years (depending on employer share increases each year). ABAG’s 
new plan members pay the full 6.25% contribution rate and MTC’s new plan employees 
pay the full 6.5% contribution rate. The difference in contribution rate is due to the 
inclusion of a survivor benefit and a higher COLA in the MTC plan. 

• Retiree health benefits would be established as part of the collective bargaining process 
between the employees and the new agency. They could be set to mirror the current 
MTC benefits, the current ABAG benefits, or a combination of the two. Employees that 
have already retired would see no change to their retiree health benefits if the new 
agency were able to assume the ongoing cost. 

• A decision to include or exclude employees from Social Security would be made as part 
of the meet and confer process under state law. Currently, ABAG employees are covered 
under Social Security while MTC employees are not. ABAG employees have a payroll 
deduction for Social Security contributions while MTC employees do not.  

Policy  

A new agency and governance model presents an opportunity to integrate the two agencies 
responsible for regional land use and transportation planning and associated services and 
programs into a transparent and more accountable policy structure. It would also provide an 
opportunity to establish a clear vision for the region. Duplicate committees addressing similar 
issues could be eliminated, which would also mean a much more efficient use of elected 
officials’ time.  

Alternative governance models provide a range of options to meet the interests of the region’s 
local governments and stakeholders, including multiple governance structures responsible for 
different missions of the new agency, e.g., the MPO or transportation, the COG, and 
administration (executive board) within an overarching policy body. Voting structures among 
the governing bodies can be weighted in accordance with various factors, including population, 
or by certain categories.  

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

Creation of a new regional agency should provide for clear staff roles and responsibilities for 
Plan Bay Area. However, it will take a minimum of a year (likely more) to establish and 
additional time to implement this option, and therefore it will have little impact on the PBA 
2017 process which is likely to be nearing conclusion or be completed by the time a new agency 
can be operational. For this option, we assume a new funding framework would be 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

57 

implemented and the respective roles for ABAG and MTC in regard to PBA would continue 
until a new agency is created. As discussed under Option 1, while some modest incremental 
improvements could be made for the current PBA 2017 process in comparison with the PBA 
2013 process through improved coordination and a dispute resolution process, many of the 
same issues of operational effectiveness and accountability are likely to remain until a new 
agency is created.  

This option would result in the integration of land use and transportation planning, programs 
and services under one unified agency. A new, integrated and unified agency under one 
management and leadership structure would clarify and streamline staff roles and 
responsibilities and improve accountability. A single integrated agency should also provide 
increased career opportunities for staff within a larger agency.  

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

In the near term this option is unlikely to address concerns with the roles and responsibilities 
for PBA 2017. The fundamental problems associated with having two agencies with 
overlapping responsibilities for the same plan will not be resolved until a new agency is 
created. Once a new agency is created, there should be significant improvements in 
streamlining the process, both for staff and for elected officials. A new committee structure 
would likely be created, allowing for less overlap in responsibility and fewer overall meetings. 
The PBA process would go through one agency rather than two, allowing for stakeholders to 
better follow and engage in the process.  

Whether PBA will be seen as the product of “representative decision making” will largely 
depend on the structure of the governing body or bodies. In any regional agency smaller 
jurisdictions want their interests and unique circumstances to be respected and their concerns 
understood. The interests of the more populous cities and counties are that programs and 
funding serve locations with the majority of the population of the region. These two interests 
must be addressed and balanced in any new governance structure.  

A single agency serving the region will be able to tackle some of the issues facing the region in a 
more holistic and comprehensive manner, including new issues as they arise. The 
administrative and other savings that can be expected by combining two agencies into a single 
agency could be used to support new policy initiatives.  

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

Option 4 assumes the continuation of the 2014 Funding Framework until a new agency is 
created. We estimate that a new agency would lead to annual savings of $2.6 million after an 
estimated one-time cost of at least $500,000 to create it.  

Both organizations are much more than planning agencies, and provide a range of services in 
addition to their role in preparing and implementing PBA. ABAG’s programs include the 
Estuary Project, its insurance pool, and assisting local governments with resilience and 
emergency planning. These services are valued by its member agencies. In addition to its role in 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 58  

managing and distributing transportation funds, MTC (including its associated agencies such as 
the Bay Area Toll Authority) has significant programmatic responsibilities, including the 511 
system, oversight of bridge operations and maintenance, and the Clipper Card system.  

MTC is somewhat unusual among MPOs we examined in the amount of local and state funding 
it manages in addition to federal funds, and the degree to which it has operational 
responsibilities; however, it is not unique. The San Diego Association of Governments 
(SANDAG) has operational and capital improvement responsibilities and approximately as 
large an overall budget as MTC. Large local governments in the Bay Area also manage 
comparable budgets and operations, and provide an even larger range of operations and 
programs than MTC, including significant land use, capital improvement, planning and policy 
responsibilities.  

While unifying two agencies into a single agency will present challenges, we have not identified 
any overt operational obstacles (pending legal review) to that unification. Existing MTC 
operations and programs should transition to a successor agency relatively seamlessly (pending 
legal review) with little operational impact. With a comparatively secure financial foundation 
and significant savings from agency unification, the new agency should be able to maintain and 
expand core service programs, and provide adequate administrative support for programs and 
services.  

A new agency provides an opportunity for a more integrated, consistent and comprehensive 
approach to all regional programs and services, including implementation of PBA. Assuming a 
continuation of current grants, service programs and dues revenue, with less duplication and 
more cost-effective agency administration, the new agency would have additional resources to 
broaden its mission. This would allow it to become a partner with local governments in several 
areas in addition to implementing PBA, including assisting local governments and stakeholders 
in addressing other issues of significant regional concern, such as housing policies and 
resilience.  

D. Implementation Viability 

Creating a new regional agency will require legislation at the state level. It will also require 
approval from the MTC and ABAG governing bodies as well as associated JPAs and other 
authorities. The complexity of this process has not been examined in depth, but we believe it to 
be one that will take some time.  

The major challenge in implementing this option will be reaching agreement among the many 
interests and stakeholders on a new governance structure that strikes the appropriate balance 
between their various interests. A new agency also provides a different opportunity for 
employee representation in the collective bargaining process to be determined.  

Once created, a single larger, organization with secure and stable financial resources is more 
likely to be able to recruit and retain qualified staff. With a strong financial foundation, the new 
agency should be able to maintain benefits for current and future retirees, although this has not 
be assessed. This option would implement the strong stakeholder interest in a having a unified 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

59 

planning agency. The option’s ability to foster support from local governments will depend in 
large measure on the governance structure ultimately agreed on for the new agency. 

Based on the above criteria analysis, Figure 10 presents the overall numeric assessment for 
Option 4 across five major areas.  

Figure 10. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 4 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 60  

Option 5 – Create a New Comprehensive Regional Agency and 
Governance Model 

Description  

Enter into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) between MTC and ABAG and other 
regional agencies such as the Bay Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC) and the 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) in the Bay Area to create a new regional 
agency and governance model that integrates the MPO (MTC) and the COG (ABAG). The MOU 
would set forth the principles, parameters and basic terms to guide the creation of a new 
regional agency and governance model for the region. Until a new agency is created and 
integration achieved, MTC and ABAG would remain as separate, independent agencies, 
including their respective mission, governance structures, legal and statutory duties, 
responsibilities and authorities. ABAG would statutorily continue to be responsible for those 
activities set forth in SB 375 regarding preparation of the SCS. Figure 11 on the following page 
provides a graphic depiction of this option. 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

61 

Figure 11. Graphic Depiction of Option 5 

 
Note: For clarity, the graphic only depicts a brief summary of planning unit functions (not the full 
range of ABAG’s and MTC’s responsibilities). 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 62  

General Impacts 

Legal  

Entering into an MOU would result in a formal agreement between ABAG, MTC, and other 
selected agencies to create a new regional agency and set forth the guiding principles, 
parameters and basic terms to guide its establishment. There may be significant legal obstacles 
to other regional agencies joining in such an effort, especially if it is a state regulatory agency. 
Management Partners did not research state and federal statutes to make this determination, 
nor did we contact the agencies to assess what issues might arise. Following a determination on 
the governance structure, duties and responsibilities of a new regional agency, as well as a 
financial assessment and proposed staffing plan, state and/or federal legislation may be 
required to transfer the current statutory duties and responsibilities of the agencies to a new 
regional agency.  

Both ABAG and MTC have ancillary JPAs, staffed by their respective agency staff which would 
have to enter into new contracts with the new agency for the same purpose. Other authorities 
such as the Bay Area Toll Authority (BATA) have significant authorities, duties and 
responsibilities as well as fiduciary obligations that would have to be examined carefully to 
ensure the process would not impact operational commitments during the next several years. 
Financing authorities as well as bond documents would also have to be reviewed to determine 
whether there are any significant obstacles to a successor agency.  

Financial  

This option addresses the entire organizational structure of both agencies, but also assumes the 
inclusion of other agencies such as BCDC and BAAQMD. The finances of these other districts 
have not been analyzed and thus it is difficult to make an estimate of the fiscal impact other 
than to say the potential for savings is somewhat greater than for Option 4 as there is a greater 
degree of likely overlap in overhead costs. However, the greater degree of complexity involved 
would certainly increase the one-time costs of formation. 

Management  

Until such time as a new regional agency is created, the current management, performance and 
accountability issues associated with preparation of PBA would likely continue until and unless 
shared agreements reset the way the agencies currently work together on regional planning 
programs and services. This option would result in a completely consolidated regional agency 
(along with other programs, operations and services) under a single management and 
leadership structure. As mentioned previously, the scope of this engagement did not allow 
Management Partners to research the operations and programs of other agencies that might be 
involved to make even a high level assessment about the management opportunities and 
challenges that might result from such a consolidation of agencies. Further research would be 
required. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

63 

Existing Employees 

Representation Status – In a new agency, a bargaining unit would be unrepresented until such 
time as a majority of all employees in the unit elected to be represented by one or more unions. 
For the bargaining unit to become represented, employees would first need to present evidence 
of the desire to be represented through a card check process or by signing petitions. Typically 
administered by the state, such an election would result in all of the employees in the agency 
being represented by a union if 50% plus one of the employees in the unit voted affirmatively 
for such an affiliation. 

Compensation – Compensation levels would be established as part of a meet and confer process 
under state law with the employees of the new agency. If they were set at the current MTC 
level, former ABAG staff may see an increase in compensation depending on the position. 
Implications for the other agencies that may be involved are unknown. 

Benefits – Benefits would be established as part of a meet and confer process under state law 
with employees of the new agency. They could be set to mirror the current MTC benefits, the 
current ABAG benefits, or a different set of benefits. 

Retirement Plan  

• The retirement plan would be established as part of a meet and confer process within 
the options available through CalPERS. Both agencies currently have a 2.5% @ 55 plan 
for “Classic” employees and the required 2% @ 62 plan for new plan employees. The 
current MTC retirement plan includes a survivor benefit while the ABAG plan does not. 
The current MTC plan includes a 3% annual COLA while the ABAG plan includes a 2% 
COLA. Either of these options could be selected by the new agency. The current rate 
paid by MTC includes these options and, if both were selected, the contribution rate 
would likely be set at the current MTC rate although this would need to be confirmed 
with CalPERS for a new agency. 

• The employee contribution for Classic employees would be established as part of a meet 
and confer process under state law. New plan employees are required to pay the full 
employee contribution rate set by PERS. Currently, ABAG employees pay a 1% 
retirement contribution with this amount increasing to 2% and 3% over the next two 
years. Classic MTC employees pay a 5.73% retirement contribution, increasing to 8% 
over the next several years (depending on employer share increases each year). ABAG’s 
new plan members pay the full 6.25% contribution rate and MTC’s new plan employees 
pay the full 6.5% contribution rate. The difference in contribution rate is due to the 
inclusion of a survivor benefit and a higher COLA in the MTC plan. 

• Retiree health benefits would be established as part of the collective bargaining process 
between the employees and the new agency. They could be set to mirror the current 
MTC benefits, the current ABAG benefits, or a combination of the two. Employees that 
have already retired would see no change to their retiree health benefits if the new 
agency were able to assume the ongoing cost (this has not been assessed). 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 64  

• A decision to include or exclude employees from Social Security would be made as part 
of the meet and confer process under state law. Currently, ABAG employees are covered 
under Social Security while MTC employees are not. ABAG employees have a payroll 
deduction for Social Security contributions while MTC employees do not.  

Policy  

A new comprehensive agency presents an opportunity to integrate all the regional agencies in 
the Bay Area into a transparent and potentially more accountable policy structure, capable of 
addressing the complex and challenging issues facing the region. Governing boards that 
address similar or related issues could be consolidated into one or more sets of policy bodies, 
which could result in a much more efficient use of elected officials’ time and improved decision 
making. Alternative governance models provide a range of options to meet the interests of the 
region’s local governments and stakeholders, including multiple governance structures 
responsible for different missions of the new agency, e.g., the MPO or transportation, the COG, 
environmental programs, and administration (executive board) within an overarching policy 
body. Voting structures among the governing bodies can be weighted in accordance with 
various factors, including population, or by specified categories. Again, further research into the 
roles and responsibilities of all the agencies who might be involved in such an effort would be 
required. 

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

For purposes of this assessment, we assumed that the new, more comprehensive regional 
agency associated with this option would include, at minimum, ABAG, MTC, the BAAQMD 
and BCDC. These agencies are already associated through the Bay Area Regional Collaborative 
(BARC). Another candidate would be the Regional Water Quality Control Board. In other 
regions, a comprehensive regional authority can also become a coordinating body for regional 
water supply, solid waste management, and other services that tend to cross jurisdictional 
boundaries or where efficiencies are possible at scale. This option would take a minimum of 
two years (and likely much more) to implement and would therefore have little or no impact on 
PBA 2017.  

This option would result in the integration of land use and transportation planning, programs 
and services under one unified agency at a minimum. A new, integrated and unified agency 
under one management and leadership structure would clarify and streamline staff roles and 
responsibilities and improve accountability. A single integrated agency should also provide 
increased career opportunities for staff within a larger agency.  

A new agency also presents an opportunity for a more integrated, consistent and 
comprehensive approach to all regional programs and services, including implementation of 
PBA. With careful planning, existing MTC operations and programs should transition to a 
successor agency relatively seamlessly (pending legal review) with no change in operational 
programs. With less duplication and more cost-effective administration, a new agency would 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

65 

have additional resources to broaden its mission and become a partner with local governments 
for implementing PBA, and address other issues of significant regional concern, such as housing 
policies, and resilience.  

When implemented, this option may also allow the PBA process to more effectively integrate 
some key agencies that have a significant influence on the region’s environment and on the 
implementation of the plan. Both BAAQMD and BCDC have land use roles, and BAAQMD has 
some responsibility for evaluating land use and transportation plans for conformance with 
clean-air requirements. In the past, conflicts have occasionally arisen between the various 
regional agencies’ plans, programs and regulations and those conflicts could potentially be 
avoided if they were managed under one agency umbrella.  

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

A single comprehensive agency would allow for more streamlined policy roles and 
responsibilities for the PBA process and regional development policy in general. A single 
agency is likely to be more visible and accountable to the region’s residents than the four or 
more agencies that currently affect regional environmental policy. As local government elected 
officials sit on all of these regional agencies, it is likely that unifying the agencies would allow 
for more efficient use of elected officials’ time. As with all of the “new agency” options 
described in this report, the degree to which local governments believe the new agency engages 
in representative decision-making will depend on the agreed upon governance structure. The 
agency would clearly have a greater ability to address complex regional issues, such as sea level 
rise and health impacts of poor air quality (which are also related to land use and 
transportation).  

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

Option 5 assumes the continuation of the 2014 Funding Framework for ABAG until a new 
comprehensive agency is created. The finances of the other potential agencies that might be 
incorporated into the new unified agency have not been analyzed and thus it is difficult to 
project a fiscal impact other than to say the potential for savings is somewhat greater than for 
Option 4 as there is a greater degree of likely overlap in overhead costs. However, the greater 
degree of complexity involved would certainly increase the one-time costs of formation.  

With a comparatively secure financial foundation and significant savings from agency 
unification, the new agency should be able to maintain and expand core service programs, and 
provide adequate administrative support for programs and services.  

D. Implementation Viability 

While there may be advantages to creating a comprehensive regional planning (and regulatory) 
agency, the complexity of establishing such an agency also grows with its size and range of 
authority. Instead of combining two agencies with their separate staffs, organizational cultures, 
legislative authorities, governance boards and other elements, this option would require 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 66  

combining at least four. Implementation would require both legislative action and action by the 
governing boards of all four agencies.  

The scope of this engagement did not allow Management Partners to research the operations 
and programs of other agencies to make even a high-level assessment of the opportunities and 
challenges that might result from such a consolidation of agencies, or the legal hurdles. Further 
research would be required. However, based on our experience with agency consolidation, we 
expect that combining four agencies would be exponentially more complex than consolidating 
ABAG and MTC into a single agency.  

One advantage of such an agency is that with its size and range of activities, it is more likely to 
be able to retain and recruit qualified staff and maintain benefits for current retirees. It would 
also be able to address stakeholder interests in a unified regional planning agency.  

Whether this option could gain support from local governments would depend, in part, on the 
structure of the governing board. Perhaps the major challenge in implementing this option will 
be reaching agreement among the many interests and stakeholders about a new governance 
structure that strikes the appropriate balance between their various interests. This option also 
has another hurdle: unlike other options, if determined to be legally feasible, this combined 
agency would have some regulatory authority, including some land use authority near the Bay 
(BCDC). Such authority would make this agency considerably stronger in some respects than 
some of the other options, but also may increase local government concerns with its creation 
because it could be perceived as having greater ability to erode local government authority.  

Based on the above criteria analysis, Figure 12 presents the overall numeric assessment for 
Option 5 across five major areas.  

Figure 12. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 5 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

67 

Option 6 – Execute a Contract between MTC and ABAG to 
Consolidate Planning Functions within MTC and Enter into an 
MOU to Create a New Regional Agency and Governance 
Model 

Description  

Execute an agreement between ABAG and MTC to consolidate all ABAG planning functions 
within MTC. Up to 22 planning positions could be created in MTC and offered to ABAG 
incumbents. No planning positions would remain in ABAG except possibly those determined to 
be directly related to and supported by enterprise programs. The agreement would address the 
financial resources to accomplish this objective, an agreed upon work program, and any 
transition payments to assist ABAG with a financial transition to support its program 
responsibilities and performance.  

Enter into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) between ABAG and MTC to create a new 
regional agency and governance model that integrates the MPO (MTC) and the COG (ABAG). 
The MOU would set forth the principles, parameters and basic terms to guide the creation of a 
new regional agency and governance model for the region.  

Until a new agency is created and full integration achieved, MTC and ABAG would remain as 
separate, independent agencies, including their respective missions, governance structures, 
legal and statutory duties, responsibilities and authorities. ABAG would statutorily continue to 
be responsible for those activities set forth in SB 375 regarding preparation of the SCS as well as 
RHNA. 

Both the contract and the MOU are intended to proceed simultaneously. While there are steps 
in the process, this alternative is explicitly a bridge to an end result which would be a regional 
agency providing both COG and MPO services, using a combined staff and management. 

Figure 13 on the following page provides a graphic depiction of this option. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 68  

Figure 13. Graphic Depiction of Option 6 

 
Note: For clarity, the graphic only depicts a brief summary of planning unit functions (not the full 
range of ABAG’s and MTC’s responsibilities). 

 

General Impacts 

Legal  

Technically, there is no change to MTC or ABAG’s statutory duties, responsibilities and 
authorities. The governance and decision making structure would remain the same. With most 
staff planning functions transferred to MTC, however, ABAG legal counsel’s ability to advise 
ABAG’s governing body on regional land use and housing issues as they emerge will be 
constrained under this structure. While the planners in MTC may be able to access ABAG’s 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

69 

legal counsel for consultation, it would be challenging for that position to provide influence and 
direction if it is contrary to that provided by MTC management and legal counsel.  

Entering into an MOU would result in a formal agreement between ABAG and MTC to create a 
new regional agency and governance structure and set forth the guiding principles, parameters 
and basic terms to guide its establishment. Following a determination about the governance 
structure, duties and responsibilities of a new regional agency, as well as a financial assessment 
and proposed staffing plan, state legislation would be required to transfer the current statutory 
duties and responsibilities of MTC and ABAG to the new agency.  

Both ABAG and MTC have ancillary JPAs, staffed by their respective agency staff, which would 
have to enter into new contracts with a new agency for the same purpose if they wish to remain 
affiliated with the successor agency. Other authorities such as the Bay Area Toll Authority 
(BATA) have significant authorities, duties and responsibilities as well as fiduciary obligations 
that would have to be examined carefully to ensure the process would not impact operational 
commitments during the next several years. Financing authorities as well as bond documents 
would also have to be reviewed to determine whether there are any significant obstacles to a 
successor agency.  

Financial 

If MTC and ABAG choose an option that involves creating a new agency, a more in-depth 
financial assessment will be required. Such an assessment would need to include a detailed 
analysis of each agency’s existing financial liabilities and their future impact on the finances of a 
newly created agency.  

Until a new agency is established, ABAG would be required to address its financial condition 
and develop a strategy that can sustain the agency in the near term. In addition to these efforts, 
this option assumes that adequate transition funding would be provided by MTC to avoid 
adverse fiscal impacts on ABAG during the period of negotiation and implementation of the 
new regional agency. In addition, non-MTC revenue sources used to fund ABAG planners 
would need to be made available to MTC (the former ABAG planners would continue to work 
as needed for ABAG grants and service programs that previously relied upon their support). 
This near-term impact is the same as under Option 2, as shown in Table 8 below. 

Table 8. Estimated Near-Term Financial Impact of Option 6 

  
 

 Assumes 50% Split in New Costs  

MTC ABAG Joint 

Existing Planning Directors ($311,000) ($298,000) ($609,000) 

New Planning Director 165,000 165,000 330,000 

Support Position and Other Operations and Maintenance Costs 100,000 100,000 200,000 

Change in Overhead Costs (24,840) (14,850) (39,690) 

Net Cost (Savings) ($70,840) ($47,850) ($118,690) 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 70  

In the long-term, it is assumed the impact would be the same as under Option 4. Under a new 
regional agency and governance model it is assumed that there would be a net reduction of one 
executive director in addition to one less director of planning. Given the overall merger of staffs, 
it would be reasonable to expect a 10% overall reduction in remaining overhead costs. The 
overall impact for both agencies is therefore projected at a $2.6 million net annual savings, as 
indicated in Table 9. In addition, it is estimated there would be one-time recruiting costs of 
$80,000, and one-time implementation costs (legal and consulting) of at least $500,000. 

Table 9. Estimated Long Term Financial Impact of Option 6 

 Assumes 50% Split in New Costs 

MTC ABAG Joint 

Existing Executive Directors ($456,000) ($363,000) ($819,000) 

New Executive Director 237,500 237,500 475,000 

Existing Planning Directors (311,000) (298,000) (609,000) 

New Planning Director 165,000 165,000 330,000 

10% Reduction in Overhead Costs (1,652,271) (302,632) (1,954,903) 

Net Cost (Savings) ($2,016,771) ($561,132) ($2,577,903) 

Management  

Consolidation of all planning functions under one planning director would streamline 
preparation of the SCS and result in efficiencies and greater effectiveness in the allocation of 
planning staff resources. The MTC planning director (and MTC executive director) as well as 
the consolidated staffing function would also be accountable for performance and most staff 
work in support of regional land use and transportation planning in the region. The MTC 
planning director reports to the MTC executive director, but also would oversee and provide 
staff support to the ABAG General Assembly, Executive Board and other ABAG committees 
with respect to regional land use planning and programs.  

The consolidated planning function would presumably be responsible for the delivery of 
regional planning services to ABAG members. Since ABAG’s SB 375 and other land use 
statutory duties as well as its current mission would not change, the MTC planning director and 
planning staff would effectively be accountable (as determined by contract) to a policy body 
(ABAG) that has no institutional relationship to MTC management or its policy structure. 

A new regional agency would result in a completely consolidated regional planning 
organization (along with other programs, operations and services) under a single management 
and leadership structure. This would result in clear and consistent direction to staff and 
transparency to the governing body or bodies and the public about who is responsible for 
implementing the region’s vision. It would also present significant opportunity for the agency’s 
managers and leaders to integrate both agencies into a cohesive, efficient and well-functioning 
organization with a shared mission, vision and values. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

71 

Existing Employees  

Until a new regional agency is formed, the employee impacts would be the same as those 
described under the Implementation of Resolution 4210. Following the creation of a new 
agency, the impacts would be the same as those described under Option 4, Creation of a New 
Regional Agency and Governance Model. 

Policy  

Until a new regional governance agency is established, MTC would likely assume major 
regional planning policy roles and responsibilities except those statutorily residing with ABAG. 
ABAG would retain its autonomy and policy role with respect to SCS and RHNA statutory 
responsibilities. MTC would provide staff support to ABAG’s policy bodies regarding regional 
land use and housing, but on an interim basis, there would be little formal change to the 
bifurcated strategic and policy direction for regional land use and transportation planning and 
related programs between two agencies not formally linked by an integrated leadership or 
policy structure.  

A new agency presents an opportunity to integrate the two agencies responsible for regional 
land use and transportation planning and associated services and programs into a transparent 
and more accountable policy structure. It would also provide an opportunity to establish a clear 
vision for the region. Duplicate committees addressing similar issues could be eliminated, 
which would also result in a more efficient use of elected officials’ time.  

Alternative governance models provide a range of options to meet the interests of the region’s 
local governments and stakeholders. These include multiple governance structures within the 
new agency that are responsible for different missions, e.g., the MPO or transportation funding 
and planning, the COG, and administration (executive board). Voting structures among the 
governing bodies can be weighted in accordance with various factors, including population, or 
by certain categories.  

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

This options assumes that an MOU will be approved committing the two agencies to create a 
single new agency, and until that new agency can be created, all planning staff would move to 
MTC under a contract. Management Partners is recommending that this option include all 
planning staff (unlike MTC Resolution 4210) because we see no basis for keeping a limited 
planning function at ABAG during this transition period, especially given the cyclical nature of 
the RHNA process, the fact that both agencies are addressing resilience, and that MTC already 
funds the Bay Trail work. The indirect and administrative costs for ABAG would also be 
unnecessarily high to sustain those functions. 

Consolidation of all planning into a single planning department should integrate regional land 
use and transportation planning more effectively and improve performance and accountability 
for development of PBA 2017. However, many stakeholders and elected officials have voiced 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 72  

concerns with integrating land use planning into a transportation agency. The vast majority of 
stakeholders engaged in this process have stated that ABAG demonstrates a greater sensitivity 
to the diverse interests of local government, and has been significantly more engaged in 
addressing these interests as part of the PBA process than MTC. Because the regional agencies 
have no land use authority, regional plans are implemented jurisdiction by jurisdiction and 
sensitivity to local concerns can help foster jurisdictional support for PBA and ultimately help 
implement increased integration of regional land use and transportation. Based on the outreach 
undertaken for this study, MTC would need to modify its current approach to its planning 
engagement strategies and redefine its role in the region to address these concerns while the 
new agency is being created.   

This option presumably would result in the integration of land use and transportation planning, 
programs, and services under one unified agency. A new, integrated and unified agency under 
one management and leadership structure would clarify and streamline staff roles and 
responsibilities and improve accountability. A single integrated agency should also provide 
increased career opportunities for staff within a larger agency.  

A new agency also presents an opportunity for a more integrated, consistent and 
comprehensive approach to all regional programs and services, including implementation of 
PBA. With less duplication and more cost-effective agency administration, the new agency 
would have additional resources to broaden its mission and become a partner with local 
governments for implementing PBA, as well as assisting local governments and working with 
its partners to address other issues of significant regional concern, such as housing policies and 
resilience.  

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

In the short term, until a new unified agency is created, some of the transparency issues 
associated with multiple committees and two governing bodies having some level of 
responsibility over the SCS process are likely to continue. Having only one staff group and a 
clear line of staff authority over the process should lead to fewer conflicts needing governing 
body review. A combined staff can also better monitor the committee review process to try and 
limit the duplication of effort by committee.  

The fundamental problems associated with having two agencies with overlapping 
responsibilities for the same plan will not be resolved until a new agency is created. Once a new 
agency is created, it should allow for significant improvements in streamlining the process, both 
for staff and elected officials. A new committee structure would likely be created, which would 
result in less overlap in responsibility and fewer overall meetings. The PBA process would go 
through one agency rather than two, allowing for stakeholders to better follow and engage in 
the process.  

A new agency also presents an opportunity for a more integrated, consistent and 
comprehensive approach to all regional programs and services, including implementation of 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

73 

PBA. With careful planning, existing MTC operations and programs should transition to a 
successor agency relatively seamlessly (pending legal review) with little change in operations.  

Whether PBA will be seen as the product of “representative decision making” will largely 
depend on the structure of the governing body or bodies. In any regional agency, smaller 
jurisdictions want their interests and unique circumstances to be respected and their concerns 
understood. The interests of the more populous cities and counties are that programs and 
funding serve locations with the majority of the population of the region. These two interests 
must be addressed and balanced in any new governance structure.  

A single agency serving the region will be able to provide an opportunity to tackle regional 
issues in a more holistic and comprehensive manner, including new issues as they arise. The 
administrative and other savings that can be expected by combining two agencies into a single 
agency could be used to support new initiatives.  

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

Until a new agency is established, ABAG would be required to address its financial condition 
and develop a strategy that can sustain the agency in the near term. In addition to these efforts, 
Option 6 assumes that MTC would continue to provide adequate transition funding to ABAG 
during the period of negotiation and implementation of a new unified regional organizational 
structure. The impact on MTC finances of potentially absorbing ABAG liabilities after 
unification will need to be fully assessed before this option is implemented. After unification, 
there should be substantial savings in administrative costs, similar to Option 4: annual savings 
of $2.6 million after an estimated one-time cost of at least $500,000 to create the unified agency.  

Both organizations are much more than planning agencies, and provide a range of services in 
addition to their role in preparing and implementing PBA. ABAG’s programs include the 
Estuary Project, its insurance pool, and assisting local governments with resilience and 
emergency planning. These services are valued by its member agencies. In addition to its role in 
managing and distributing transportation funds, MTC (including its associated agencies such as 
the Bay Area Toll Authority) has significant programmatic responsibilities, including the 511 
system, oversight over bridge operations and maintenance and the Clipper Card system.  

MTC is somewhat unusual among MPOs we examined in the amount of local and state funding 
it manages in addition to federal funds, and the degree to which it has operational 
responsibilities; however, it is not unique. The San Diego Association of Governments 
(SANDAG) has operational and capital improvement responsibilities and approximately as 
large an overall budget as MTC. Large local governments in the Bay Area also manage 
comparable budgets and operations, and provide an even larger range of operations and 
programs than MTC, including significant land use planning, capital improvement and policy 
development responsibilities.  

While unifying two agencies into a single agency will present challenges, we have not identified 
any overt operational obstacles (pending legal review) to that unification. Existing MTC 
operations and programs should transition to a successor agency relatively seamlessly (pending 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 74  

legal review) with little operational impact. With a comparatively secure financial foundation 
(assuming continuation of current grants, service programs and dues revenue) and significant 
savings from agency unification, the new agency should be able to maintain and expand core 
service programs and provide adequate administrative support for programs and services.  

D. Implementation Viability 

Creating a new regional agency will require legislation at the state level. It will also require 
approval from the MTC and ABAG governing bodies as well as associated JPAs and other 
authorities. The complexity of this process has not been examined in depth, but we believe it to 
be one that will take some time. Perhaps the major challenge in implementing this option will 
be reaching agreement among the many interests and stakeholders about a new governance 
structure that strikes the appropriate balance between their various interests. 

In the near term, the planners transferred to MTC under this option may find it to be a more 
attractive agency than ABAG with respect to compensation and some benefits; however, the 
issue of non-affiliation with a union may be a negative factor. Leadership and a careful 
transition plan will be needed for ABAG and MTC planning staff to consolidate into a well-
functioning team. Remaining ABAG employees as well as retirees will likely be concerned 
about the ability of ABAG to support its financial obligations to its current compensation and 
retirement plans until a new agency is created. 

The creation of a new agency provides a different opportunity for employee representation in 
the collective bargaining process to be determined. Once created, a single larger, organization 
with secure and stable financial resources is more likely to be able to recruit and retain qualified 
staff. With a strong financial foundation, the new agency should be able to maintain benefits for 
current and future retirees although this has not been fully assessed. This option would 
implement the strong stakeholder interest in a having a unified planning agency. The option’s 
ability to foster support from local governments will depend in large measure on the 
governance structure ultimately agreed upon for a new agency. 

Based on the above criteria analysis, Figure 14 presents the overall numeric assessment for 
Option 6 across five major areas.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

75 

Figure 14. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 6 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 76  

Option 7 – Enter into a Contract between ABAG and MTC to 
Consolidate Staff Functions under One Executive Director and 
Enter into an MOU to Pursue New Governance Options (Full 
Functional Consolidation) 

Description  

Enter into a contract between ABAG and MTC to provide staffing for all ABAG statutory duties 
and responsibilities, a work program, functions agreed to be transitioned, as well as the role of 
the executive director with respect to the ABAG policy body. Enter into a memorandum of 
understanding (MOU) between MTC and ABAG to establish a timeframe for considering a new 
governance structure and to set forth principles, goals and parameters for pursuing new 
governance options. The ABAG JPA and MTC governance structures, as well as their statutory 
roles and responsibilities, would remain unchanged.  

Within a timeframe agreed upon, evaluate the existing governance structure for efficiency, 
effectiveness and transparency and decide whether to create a new regional governance model. 
The ABAG and MTC governance structures and consolidated agency would remain in place as 
well as their statutory authorities, duties and responsibilities until and unless a new regional 
agency and/or governance structure is agreed upon and implemented. Figure 15 on the 
following page provides a graphic depiction of this option. 

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

77 

Figure 15. Graphic Depiction of Option 7 

 
Note: For clarity, the graphic only depicts a brief summary of planning unit functions (not the full range of 
ABAG’s and MTC’s responsibilities). 

 

General Impacts 

Legal  

MTC would become the legal counsel for the ABAG JPA as well as its enterprise functions and 
other JPAs to the extent the latter authorities agree to the transition. ABAG staff provides 
support to four JPAs, which would have to enter into new contracts with MTC for the same 
purpose. ABAG financing authorities as well as bond documents would also have to be 
reviewed to determine actions which might have to be taken to respond to any obstacles or 
liabilities if MTC assumes oversight in these areas.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 78  

Should a new governance model be agreed on, legislative action by ABAG and MTC as well as 
state legislation would likely be required to transition to a new model.  

Financial  

If this option is pursued, a more in-depth financial assessment will be required. Such an 
assessment would need to include a detailed analysis of each agency’s existing financial 
liabilities and their future impact on the finances of MTC, or if pursued, a newly created agency. 
The outcome of this option in terms of organizational savings is the same as Options 4 and 6: 
there would be a net reduction of one executive director and one director of planning, and 
given the merger of staffs, it would be reasonable to expect a 10% overall reduction in 
remaining overhead costs. The overall impact for both agencies is therefore projected at a $2.6 
million net annual savings, as indicated in Table 10. In addition, it is estimated there would be 
one-time recruiting costs of $80,000, and one-time implementation costs (legal and consulting) 
of $500,000. This option assumes that Resolution 4210 is replaced by adequate funding to avoid 
adverse fiscal impacts on ABAG during the period of contract negotiation. 

Table 10. Estimated Financial Impact of Option 7 

 Assumes 50% Split in New Costs 

MTC ABAG Joint 

Existing Executive Directors ($456,000) ($363,000) ($819,000) 

New Executive Director 237,500 237,500 475,000 

Existing Planning Directors (311,000) (298,000) (609,000) 

New Planning Director 165,000 165,000 330,000 

10% Reduction in Overhead Costs (1,652,271) (302,632) (1,954,903) 

Net Cost (Savings) ($2,016,771) ($561,132) ($2,577,903) 

 

Management  

Consolidating the ABAG and MTC staff would result in a more comprehensive regional 
planning organization under a single management and leadership structure. This would result 
in efficiencies, cost savings and more effective use of staff resources including streamlining the 
preparation of PBA. Under contract to ABAG, the combined staff will be assuming support to 
all of ABAG’s policy bodies, duties and responsibilities. MTC will need to adjust its 
organizational structure to accommodate ABAG functions and services. Following an analysis 
of the duties and responsibilities of ABAG staff, some positions may also no longer be required 
when the functions are consolidated in MTC.  

ABAG’s commitment to providing assistance to its member agencies in a number of areas will 
also need to be supported and continued in the new framework. Nonetheless, the consolidation 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

79 

should result in clear and consistent direction to staff and transparency to the governing body 
or bodies and the public about the staff responsible for implementing the region’s vision as 
established by ABAG and MTC. It would also present significant opportunity for an executive 
director to integrate both agencies into a cohesive, efficient and well-functioning organization 
with a shared mission, vision and values. 

Employee Impacts  

Until a new regional agency is formed, the employee impacts would generally be the same as 
those described under the Implementation of Resolution 4210; however, there has been no 
determination as to whether all ABAG positions would transition to MTC. Should there be 
agreement to create a successor agency under a new governance structure, the impacts should 
be the same as those described under Option 4, Creation of a New Regional Agency and 
Governance Model. 

Policy  

Until and unless a new regional governance model is agreed on, ABAG and MTC’s policy and 
governance structures would continue as currently structured. ABAG would remain 
autonomous and independent from a policy standpoint. In addition to its JPA policy and 
statutory duties and responsibilities, the ABAG governing bodies would specifically retain their 
statutory responsibilities over the SCS as well as RHNA and therefore its specific policy roles in 
these areas. While some policy decision making could be streamlined with staff integration, 
there will be no formal change to the bifurcated strategic and policy direction for regional land 
use and transportation planning and related programs between two agencies not formally 
linked by an integrated policy structure.  

Under this option, there is no formal commitment to create a successor agency and new 
governance model. If a new governance model is pursued and implemented, it would increase 
the transparency of regional land use and transportation policy decisions and provide an 
opportunity to establish a clear vision for the region. A new governance model would also 
eliminate duplicate committees addressing similar issues, which would also mean a more 
efficient use of elected officials’ time as well as staff time. Alternative governance models 
provide a range of options to meet the interests of the region’s local governments and 
stakeholders, including multiple governance structures within the new agency that are 
responsible for different missions, e.g., the MPO or transportation, the COG, and administration 
(executive board). Voting structures among the governing bodies can be weighted in 
accordance with various factors, including population, or by certain categories.  

A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability 

Consolidating staff would clarify and streamline staff roles and responsibilities between the 
MPO and COG under a single leadership and management structure, thereby fostering 
accountability for performance on PBA 2017 as well as all regional land use and transportation 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 80  

planning generally. This option would provide a single planning department that would 
integrate regional land use and transportation planning more effectively. A combined 
organization with more stable financial resources should also result in increased support for 
integrated transportation and land use programs and services.  

As many stakeholders have voiced concerns about integrating land use planning into a 
transportation agency, MTC would need to increase staff resources and demonstrate a much 
stronger commitment to increasing local government engagement and support for PBA. 
Because neither ABAG nor MTC have land use authority, regional plans are implemented 
jurisdiction by jurisdiction and local jurisdiction support will be critical to the successful 
implementation of this option. Additionally, MTC would be expected to continue ABAG’s 
commitment to providing local government with a range of planning and other specialized 
assistance. Performance and expectations regarding these issues could be set forth in the 
contract and work program.  

Consolidating administrative services and other functions would result in efficiencies and 
effectiveness and probably reduce costs to ABAG programs and services, including the JPAs. It 
would also provide additional resources and expertise to address ABAG’s financial issues and 
provide long-term solutions. Further analysis as well as additional information would be 
required to understand the impact on MTC (administratively and financially) in this area. While 
a consolidated staffing function in a larger agency would provide additional depth and 
flexibility, transparency and accountability to ABAG’s member agencies by staff would be 
paramount. Implementation of this option would significantly increase the overall number of 
staff in MTC and the career opportunities for staff. 

Under the contract between MTC and ABAG, the executive director as the leader of MTC staff 
would be responsible for the oversight and management of the staff functions to carry out the 
duties and responsibilities of ABAG. ABAG would maintain its autonomy and policy role 
through an annual (or more) contract with MTC that sets forth expectations, responsibilities, a 
work program and annual budget for carrying it out. ABAG would retain authority to contract 
with consultants who can independently review issues or work if it deems necessary to do so. 
As an employee of MTC, the executive director would technically only report to one oversight 
body (in this instance, the Commission). Nonetheless, Management Partners has seen many 
agencies where executive directors (and other chief executive officers) are responsible to meet 
and balance the interests of many competing stakeholder groups.  

In the Washington, DC and Chicago MPOs, regional agency executive directors have essentially 
two different governing boards whose interests they must address, and they have not indicated 
any significant issues in doing so. In other California major regional agencies, the executive 
directors must balance the MPO and COG policies, roles and responsibilities. Establishing a 
clear set of duties and responsibilities regarding the executive director’s role with respect to the 
ABAG governing bodies will need to occur. Similarly, MTC legal counsel could agree to 
provide day to day services in support of ABAG functions and services but is also accountable 
to and reports to the Commission. ABAG may wish to retain outside legal counsel on contract 
to provide advice and counsel to the policy body. 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

81 

B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making 

Implementation of this option would establish clear lines of responsibility and decision making 
for staff, but leave policy divided between the two agencies. The combined staff would now 
report to the ABAG policy structure regarding those issues under ABAG’s purview, and to the 
MTC policy structure for those issues under MTC’s purview. Having only one staff and a clear 
line of staff authority over the process should lead to fewer conflicts needing governing body 
review. A combined staff can also better monitor the committee review process to try to limit 
the duplication of effort by committees and by staff reporting to committees. (ABAG and MTC 
could also consider a different committee structure to improve efficiency.) 

While duplication of effort can be reduced, the existing official bifurcation of roles and 
responsibilities between the two policy bodies would continue, potentially leading to some 
continuation of the lack of transparency regarding decision making and continued inefficient 
use of elected officials’ time. There could also be some inefficiency related to resolving 
disagreements between the two policy bodies about the allocation of staff resources for the PBA 
process and other ABAG programs. A conflict resolution process would need to be adopted as 
part of the contract to address this type of resource allocation issue.  

Because the PBA process would still involve two agencies with their own committee/policy 
structure, issues identified by stakeholders regarding transparency of decision-making would 
not necessarily be resolved by this option. Whether PBA 2017 is seen as a product of 
“representative decision making” should be similar to PBA 2013 under this option, assuming 
both agencies choose to continue the current practice of joint adoption of PBA. However, should 
that practice change and MTC not receive ABAG’s support for PBA, the perception that PBA is 
a product of representative decision making could be compromised.  

This option could lead to an opportunity to address more complex regional issues, as it could 
increase the staff resources available for such work. Overall, this option should allow for more 
efficient allocation of staff with potentially significant cost savings. By reducing duplication of 
effort and allowing for a more streamlined PBA process, the level of staffing necessary for PBA 
2017 should be reduced in comparison to PBA 2013. Assuming some increased efficiency and 
reduced costs, there should be increased staff resources available to undertake new initiatives. 
While MTC will have the ability and the resources to do more comprehensive regional 
planning, undertaking a wider range of planning activities will require MTC to redefine itself as 
more than a transportation agency, which it has already begun to do.  

C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability 

Option 7 assumes that all ABAG staff and MTC staff would be consolidated into a single agency 
under a single executive director. The impact on MTC finances of potentially absorbing ABAG 
liabilities will need to be fully assessed before this option is implemented. While we have not 
fully evaluated the fiscal impacts of consolidating all ABAG and MTC staff functions into MTC, 
we would assume the administrative savings would be roughly the same as for options 4 and 6: 
about $2.6 million in annual savings and a one-time cost of at least $500,000. There would likely 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 

 

 82  

be additional costs associated with a later evaluation of the effectiveness of the governance 
structure, and further costs to implement a decision to move forward with agency unification.  

The unified staff will be under an agency with a comparatively secure financial foundation and 
strong administrative services and programs. Overall, the annual savings from this option 
should allow maintenance and expansion of core service programs, and provide adequate 
administrative support for programs and services, assuming continuation of current grants, 
service programs and dues revenue.  

D. Implementation Viability 

Option 7 would not require any immediate legislative action, although it would be required 
should the agencies decide to create a unified agency in the future. This option would require 
ABAG and MTC to enter into an agreement for the transfer of staff and financial resources. Such 
an agreement would also set forth the programs and services staff would perform for ABAG. 

MTC may be perceived as a more attractive agency than ABAG with respect to compensation 
and some benefits by ABAG staff; however, the issue of non-affiliation with a union may be a 
negative factor. Also, leadership and a careful transition plan will be needed for a successful 
integration of ABAG and MTC staff into a single organizational culture. The consolidated staff 
will be in a more securely funded organization than ABAG, and this should address some of the 
uncertainties associated with ABAG’s current financial state.  

This option would only partially address stakeholder interest in a unified regional planning 
agency because it would leave intact the existing policy bifurcation. It is likely to be perceived 
as a step in the direction of a more unified agency, given the commitment to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the dual governance structure in the future. Based on the stakeholder meetings, 
this option would need extensive engagement to provide information about how ABAG will 
retain its independent role, and how it will provide policy direction to programs and policies 
under a consolidated staffing structure.  

Based on the above criteria analysis, Figure 16 presents the overall numeric assessment for 
Option 7 across five major areas.  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Options Analysis  Management Partners 
 

83 

Figure 16. Criteria Assessment Overview for Option 7 

 

 

These options are intended to frame possible approaches at this time. There may be elements or 
components of one that might be transferable or incorporated into another option, especially 
with respect to implementation mechanisms, e.g., a contract, resolution or MOU. The Executive 
Summary of this report provides a summary of Management Partners’ conclusions regarding 
these options and our recommendation for a path forward. 

 

 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Attachments and Appendix  Management Partners 
 

 84  

Attachment A. Definition of Three Problems  
Based on interviews and the comments that emerged from the stakeholder engagement process 
as well as Management Partners’ own research, analysis and expertise, we believe there 
effectively are three problems that are driving the merger study discussion and warrant 
resolution.  

Problem 1: Preparation of 
the region’s sustainable 
community strategy to 
reduce greenhouse gases is 
statutorily split between 
two regional agencies. 
Preparation and management 
of a Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS), including a 
forecasted development pattern 
for the region, is carried out by 
two independent regional land 
use and transportation 
planning agencies. 

 Consequences 
• Leadership and management issues (who is in charge of 

getting the SCS completed and implemented) 
• Coordination and performance confusion 

(accountability) 
• Inefficient use of staff resources  
• Confusion for the public about who makes which policy 

decisions (transparency) 
• Inefficient government and increased costs 
• Bifurcated and sometimes competing strategic direction 

at the policy, leadership and management levels 

Problem 2: Two agencies 
responsible for regional 
land use and transportation 
planning and associated 
services and programs are 
not formally linked by an 
integrated management, 
leadership or policy 
structure.  
MTC and ABAG have 
overlapping roles and 
responsibilities for land use 
and transportation planning 
and related services and 
programs. 

 Consequences 
• Significant obstacle to integrating complex land use, 

transportation and regional policy issues into a clear 
vision for the region 

• Distraction for a region needing to address complex and 
difficult issues (stakeholders want a “one stop, 
accountable shop”) 

• Disparate and in some cases, duplicative and competing 
programs provided to local government 

• Inefficient use of staff resources 
• Perceptions regarding the lack of accountability and 

transparency (too many committees across two agencies 
addressing similar issues and programs)  

• Inefficient use of elected officials’ time 

 
  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Attachments and Appendices  Management Partners 
 

85 

 

 
Problem 3: ABAG’s ongoing 
ability to implement its 
mission is compromised. 
A significantly changed, complex 
and statutorily prescribed 
regional planning platform and 
continued reliance on 
discretionary revenue will 
challenge ABAG’s fiscal 
sustainability over the long term 
and impede its intergovernmental 
coordination activities. 
 
  

 Consequences 
• Increased dependency on discretionary revenue that will 

fluctuate with the economy, grantors and contractors 
• Ongoing concern by members and regional planning 

stakeholders regarding ABAG’s mission and ability to 
influence complex and difficult regional issues 

• Member agency “voice” is at risk regarding complex 
regional issues 

• Potential loss of confidence among grantor organizations 
• With or without regional planning, ABAG’s members 

and grantors may not be willing to sustain the agency’s 
financial security over the long term 

 

 

 

 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Attachments and Appendix  Management Partners 
 

 86  

Attachment B. Comparison of Planner Base Salaries 
 

Table 11. Top-Step Base Salaries for ABAG and MTC Planners 

Position Classification 
Annual Base Salary  

(Top-Step) 

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) 

Planning and Research Director $167,500 

Assistant Planning Director $134,700 

Principal $122,412 

Senior Regional Planner $96,756 

Regional Planner III $88,056 

Regional Planner II $73,260 

Regional Planner I $63,840 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)* 

Planning Director  $210,204 

Principal, Planner/Analyst $171,672 

Senior Planner/Analyst $141,591 

Associate Planner/Analyst $115,644 

Assistant Planner/Analyst $100,305 

Junior Planner/Analyst $86,994 

Planning Technician $78,865 
*Base salaries to increase by 2.6% on July 1, 2016. 

  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Attachments and Appendices  Management Partners 
 

87 

Appendix 1. Comparison of Employee Benefits 
 

Benefit 
Category 

ABAG MTC 

Pension and 
Retirement 
Programs 

Public Employees Retirement 
System (PERS); employee 
contributes a portion of gross 
salary on a pre-tax basis.  

ABAG in CalPERS public misc. 
pool plan. 

Classic plan members, 2.5% at 
55; Jan. 1, 2015 employees pay 
1.00% of plan 7.00% employee 
contribution rate; Jan 1, 2016, 
employees will pay 2.00%; Jan 1 
2017, employees will pay 
3.00%.  

New plan members, 2.0% at 62, 
pay full employee rate which is 
6.25%.  

No survivor benefit options; 2% 
retiree annual COLA. 

All employees participate in 
Social Security. The employer 
and the employee are required 
to make contributions. The 
current employee contribution 
is 6.20% of salary. 

ABAG has a two tier medical 
retirement plan.  

For Legacy Employees, hired 
before and by June 30, 2009, 
ABAG pays 100% of Kaiser 
Supplemental Medicare rate; 
for employees with 5+ years of 
service with ABAG at 
retirement, ABAG pays for two 
party Kaiser Supp. Medicare 

Public Employees Retirement System 
(PERS); employee contributes a portion 
of gross salary on a pre-tax basis.  

Classic plan members, 2.5% at 55, 7/1/15 
employees pay 5.73% of plan 8.00% 
employee contribution rate; share 
employer contribution increase each FY 
50%/50% until employees contributing 
full 8.00% employee rate. 

New plan members, 2.0% at 62, 
employees required to pay full 
employee contribution rate which is 
6.50% for MTC. 

Survivor benefit options; 3% retiree 
annual COLA. 

MTC does not participate in Social 
Security. 

MTC is subject to California Pension 
Reform and as of January 1, 2013 will 
offer two pension plans. The 
plan employee will receive will be based 
on the individual's historical pension 
plan membership. 

MTC is a PEMCHA equal method 
participant for retiree medical benefits; 
retirees pay the same premium cost-
shares as active employees (responsible 
currently for 5% of premium for all 
enrollment choices). 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Attachments and Appendix  Management Partners 
 

 88  

Benefit 
Category 

ABAG MTC 

rate; reimburse for Medicare 
Part B deductible. 

In addition, ABAG pays 100% 
of the premium for retired 
employees who are not yet 
Medicare eligible for either the 
Kaiser employee only or 
employee plus one dependent 
options.  

For employees hired on or after 
July 1, 2009, ABAG contributes 
$100 per month into a MARA 
(retirement medical savings 
account); other than PEMCHA 
required minimum, no further 
obligation to retiree medical. 

Health and 
Dental Benefits 

Medical insurance through the 
Public Employees' Retirement 
System; currently six HMO and 
three PPO Medical Plans. 

For 2015 – 2017 calendar years, 
ABAG pays up to an agreed to 
amount; amount goes up 2016 
and 2017 1.5%; reopen if Kaiser 
premium is higher than 
ABAG’s contribution levels or if 
Blue Shield Access+ goes up 7% 
or more.  

Cash in lieu for employees 
hired on or before of 10/07/04 
who were receiving cash at that 
time.  

Dental and vision insurance 
paid fully by ABAG for 
employee and their dependents. 

No cash in lieu for dental or 
vision. 

Medical insurance through the Public 
Employees' Retirement System currently 
six HMO and three PPO Medical Plans. 

Premiums are shared between agency 
and employee at 95%/5% split; thru June 
30, 2018, current MOU period. Cash in 
lieu of $965 for calendar 2016. 

Dental insurance (premium for 
employee paid by MTC; dependent 
coverage shared by the employee and 
MTC; employee pays $6.30 monthly for 
1; $19.13 monthly for family).  

Vision care insurance (premium for 
employee paid by MTC; dependent 
coverage is paid in full by employee at 
$7.29 monthly for 1; $25.93 monthly for 
family). 

Cash in lieu available for both dental 
and vision.  

MTC provides access to and administers 
retiree dental and vision insurance 
plans. The retirees pay 100% of 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Attachments and Appendices  Management Partners 
 

89 

Benefit 
Category 

ABAG MTC 

premiums. CalPERS deducts premiums 
and pays MTC from retiree pension 
payments as a benefit to retirees.  

Salary 
Administration 

Four support grades with five 
steps; five professional grades 
with five steps; for classified 
union positions. 

For calendars 2015 – 2017 3.00% 
COLA. 

Merit is move to next step 
while still in range each year 
for satisfactory performance; 
Executive Director has ability 
to grant bonuses and extra step 
increases. 

Nine support grades with eleven steps; 
five management grades with 
minimums and maximums. 

Annual COLA increase to all salary 
grades July 1 of 2.6% through June 2018. 

Merit salary increase options per 
performance until at top of grade range. 

Insurance Life/AD&D Insurance – ABAG 
pays 100% of premium; benefit 
is two-times salary for all 
employees. 

Short-Term Disability – ABAG 
participates in state program 
(SDI) which means also 
participate in state Paid Family 
Leave (PFL). 60 days. 

SDI and PFL benefits are 66 
and 2/3ds salary. 

Long Term Disability – ABAG 
provides LTD, premium paid 
100% by agency (benefits 
taxable upon use). 

Life/AD&D Insurance – MTC pays 
100% of premium; benefit is one-times 
salary for management employees.  

Dependent coverages included; 
voluntary life available at employee 
cost.  

Short-Term Disability – MTC provides 
private Short-Term Disability (STD), 
premium paid 100% by agency (benefits 
taxable upon use). 90 days. 

MTC allows staff to use sick leave for 
PFL equivalent leaves (sick family, 
paternity leave, etc.) 

STD benefit is 66 and 2/3ds salary.  

Long Term Disability – MTC provides 
Long Term Disability, premium paid 
100% by agency (benefits taxable upon 
use).  

 

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Attachments and Appendix  Management Partners 
 

 90  

Benefit 
Category 

ABAG MTC 

Holidays, 
Vacation, Sick, 
and other Paid 
Leaves 

 

Holidays – eleven paid 
holidays per year; three 
floating holiday days 

Vacation –  

1-3 years – 5/6ths 
days/month 

3-6 years – 1.25 
days/month  

6-10 years – 1.42 
days/month  

10+ years – 1.66 days per 
month (approx. 20 
days/year) 

Accrues to two-times 
annual two-year credit 
limit; excess paid out as of 
Dec 31 each year. 

Accruals payable upon 
employment separation. 

Sick Leave – one day per 
month worked up to a cap 
of 240 days (1,920 hours). 

Not payable upon 
employment separation. 

CalPERS contracts (classic 
and new) allow for 
accrued sick leave to count 
towards service years 
upon termination/ 
retirement. 

Can use for self and for 
sick immediate family 
members defined as 
parent, spouse or child. 

Can integrate sick leave 
with SDI benefits. 

Holidays - eleven paid holidays per 
year. 

Personal Business Days – three days 
per year. 

Vacation -  

Eight hours per month accrued per pay 
period. 

Starting at employment for the first 
year, an additional day is added up to a 
maximum total accrual level of 25 days 
per year.  

Accrual caps at 500 hours. 

Can cash out once a year for balances 
above 320 hours up to cap of 500 hours.  

Accruals payable upon employment 
separation. 

Sick Leave - one day per month paid 
sick leave with no limit to the amount of 
sick leave that can be accrued.  

Up to 240 hours of accrual payable upon 
employment separation.  

Can use for self and for sick immediate 
family members (extensive definition 
list using current CA FMLA and CFRA 
definitions). 

Can integrate sick leave with STD and 
LTD benefits. 

Catastrophic Sick Leave Program  

Item 7



Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 
Attachments and Appendices  Management Partners 
 

91 

Benefit 
Category 

ABAG MTC 

Jury Duty Leave – allows 
open-ended leave on 
continued pay. 

Funeral Leave – 3 days 
paid for California, 5 days 
paid for out-of-state. 

Other mandatory leave 
benefits. 

Employees may contribute accrued sick 
leave hours accrued above 240 hours to 
a Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank.  

Employees may be eligible to request 
sick leave from the Catastrophic Sick 
Leave Bank. 

Jury Duty Leave – allows open-ended 
leave on continued full pay. 

Funeral Leave – 3 days paid; can use 
sick leave for longer leaves. 

Other mandatory leave benefits. 

 
Transit and 
Parking  

1. Public Transit – up to $200 
a month per IRS regulation 

2. Employer paid parking – 
after move to San 
Francisco, employer 
provided parking to be 
used in combination with 
public transit use. 

3. Carpooling – while in 
Oakland, fully subsidized 
parking in employer lot for 
verified carpools (two or 
more). 

$20 pre-tax subsidy for bicycle 
commuting. 

MTC provides a five option transit 
subsidy benefit: 

1.  $214 benefit monthly to be used for 
public transportation purchases 
(WageWorks or Clipper Direct); pre-tax 
as allowable by the IRS for transit and 
parking. 

2. Subsidized parking in the MTC lot for 
$18.50 a month pre-tax. 

3. 100% subsidized parking in the MTC 
lot for legitimate carpools. 

4. $20 pre-tax a month for eligible bicycle 
computing. 

5. $20 taxable subsidy month cash-in-lieu 

Deferred 
Compensation 

STARS/UTC 457 and/or ICMA‐
RC Retirement Plan (Voluntary) 

Two 457 deferred compensation plans; 
CalPERS and ICMA-RC. Employee 
deferral only; no employer contribution. 
(Voluntary – opt in) 

Roth IRA option. (Voluntary – opt in) 
Flexible 
Spending 
Accounts 

Pre‐tax options for eligible 
health care and dependent care 
expenses (Optional) 

Employee-paid pre-tax dependent care 
and health care flexible spending 
accounts both at IRS allowable 
maximum levels. (Voluntary – opt in) 

 

Item 7



Blank Page 


	AC 20160422 Call and Notice Final
	AC 20160422 Agenda Final
	AC 20160422 Item 05A MTC SJM Minutes Mar 25 2016
	AC 20160422 Item 06 Minutes 20160325 Draft
	Blank Page 1
	AC 20160422 Item 07 MTC ABAG Merger Study Options Analysis and Recommendation Report 2016
	Executive Summary
	The Problem
	Conclusions about Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 and Alternative Options
	Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 – Consolidation of Most Planning Functions in MTC
	Option 1 – No Structural Change
	Option 2 – Hire an Independent Planning Director to Manage all Planning Functions
	Option 3 – Establish a New Joint Powers Authority (JPA) to Oversee all Planning Functions
	Option 4 – Create a New Regional Agency and Governance Model
	Option 5 – Create a New Comprehensive Regional Agency and Governance Model
	Option 6 – Execute a Contract between MTC and ABAG to Consolidate Planning Functions within MTC and Enter into an MOU to Create a New Regional Agency and Governance Model
	Option 7 – Enter into a Contract between ABAG and MTC to Consolidate Staff Functions under One Executive Director and Enter into an MOU to Pursue New Governance Options (Functional Consolidation)

	A Path Forward

	Setting the Context
	Plan Bay Area and SB 375
	Merger Study
	Major Study Activities Leading to the Options Analysis

	ABAG and MTC Financial Forecast
	Employee Compensation, Benefits and Representation

	Options Analysis
	Merger Study Principles
	List of Options
	Analysis Framework
	Option Profiles
	Implementation of MTC Resolution 4210 – Consolidation of Most Planning Functions in MTC
	Description
	General Impacts
	Legal
	Financial
	Management
	Existing Employees
	Policy

	A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability
	B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making
	C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability
	D. Implementation Viability

	Option 1 - No Structural Change
	Description
	General Impacts
	Legal
	Financial
	Management
	Existing Employees
	Policy

	A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability
	B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making
	C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability
	D. Implementation Viability

	Option 2 – Hire an independent planning director to manage all planning functions
	Description
	General Impacts
	Legal
	Financial
	Management
	Existing Employee Impacts
	Policy

	A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability
	B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making
	C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability
	D. Implementation Viability

	Option 3 – Establish a New Joint Powers Authority (JPA) to Oversee all Planning Functions
	Description
	General Impacts
	Legal
	Financial
	Management
	Existing Employees
	Policy

	A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability
	B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making
	C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability
	D. Implementation Viability

	Option 4 – Create a New Regional Agency and Governance Model
	Description
	General Impacts
	Legal
	Financial
	Management
	Existing Employees
	Policy

	A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability
	B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making
	C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability
	D. Implementation Viability

	Option 5 – Create a New Comprehensive Regional Agency and Governance Model
	Description
	General Impacts
	Legal
	Financial
	Management
	Existing Employees
	Policy

	A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability
	B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making
	C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability
	D. Implementation Viability

	Option 6 – Execute a Contract between MTC and ABAG to Consolidate Planning Functions within MTC and Enter into an MOU to Create a New Regional Agency and Governance Model
	Description
	General Impacts
	Legal
	Financial
	Management
	Existing Employees
	Policy

	A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability
	B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making
	C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability
	D. Implementation Viability

	Option 7 – Enter into a Contract between ABAG and MTC to Consolidate Staff Functions under One Executive Director and Enter into an MOU to Pursue New Governance Options (Full Functional Consolidation)
	Description
	General Impacts
	Legal
	Financial
	Management
	Employee Impacts
	Policy

	A. Operational Effectiveness and Accountability
	B. Transparency in Policy Decision Making
	C. Core Service Delivery and Financial Sustainability
	D. Implementation Viability


	Attachment A. Definition of Three Problems
	Attachment B. Comparison of Planner Base Salaries
	Appendix 1. Comparison of Employee Benefits

	Blank Page 1



